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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2019 (the
“Period").

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2019, the Sino-US trade war heated up and Hong Kong
experienced a half-year social unrest. It was an uneasy year
for most of the local businesses and especially for those with
manufacturing and trading activities in the US market such as the
Group. Despite of this, the Group grasped the opportunity to work
more closely with its business partners and through its competitive
edge in the technical capabilities and quality control, the Group
recorded a historically high revenue and net profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

As a well-established provider of integrated plastic solutions in
the People’'s Republic of China (the "PRC"), the Group operates
business through two segments. The integrated plastic solutions
segment is engaged in mould design and fabrication services as
well as plastic component design and manufacturing services.
The electronic cigarette (the "e-cigarettes”) products segment is
engaged in the manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products
under the brand names owned by a well known tobacco group. The
Group distributes its products within the domestic market and to
overseas markets, including Europe, Asia and the United States.

During the year, the Group's total revenue amounted to
approximately HK$1,251.1 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 30.3% (2018: HK$959.9 million).
The Group recorded a gross profit of approximately HK$313.4
million (2018: HK$237.8 million) with a gross profit margin of
approximately 25.0% (2018: 24.8%).

The Group recorded a profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$127.2 million (2018: HK$75.8
million). Basic earnings per share attributable to equity holders of
the Company were approximately HK20.52 cents (2018: HK12.80
cents).
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Since the listing of the Company's shares on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited in 2018, the Group has been
continuously upgrading its production capacity through the addition
of new machines for plastic injection and mould fabrication, as
well as expansion of the factory premises. These new capacities
provided space for production lines of new products and enabled
the Group to increase productivity for current products. During the
year ended 31 December 2019, the capital expenditure incurred by
the Group amounted to approximately HK$149.0 million, including
HK$85.2 million for the addition of new machines and HK$49.1
million for the construction of new factory premises.

FUTURE PLAN AND PROSPECTS

In 2020, the Board expects that the outbreak of COVID-19 will
cause significant downturn in the global economy. It is also
expected that the business activities will be slowed down due to
the quarantine control in many countries. The demand for our
clients’ products may be affected due to uncertainty of market
demand. The process of product development will be prolonged
due to travel restriction between client and our production plants.
We foresee that 2020 will be challenging and will adopt a prudent
business strategy.

In response to these uncertainties, we shall continue to search for
new market opportunities and aim to diversify our product portfolio
through our research and development. The new factory premises
under construction will provide room for us to locate more new
product production lines, innovate our design through new product
development and achieve automated production with addition
of highly automated machineries. We believe that all of these
measures will provide solid foundation for us to be well-equipped
for grasping the momentum of growth when the difficult time is

over.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
e

The outbreak of COVID-19 in early of 2020 has badly hit the
global economy. It is expected that the pandemic will adversely
affect the global business for a substantial time in 2020, placing
difficulties and challenges ahead. Despite this, the Group will
overcome these difficulties by seeking new market opportunities
and adjusting our existing production base to meet the market
needs for new products. At the same time, the Group will adopt
a prudent approach and adjust our strategies to mitigate the
expected downward risks as a result of the slowing down economic
activities. These include lowering unit labour cost by continuous
enhancement of production processes through enhancing our level
of automation and construction of new factory space to prepare for
the expected demand of new products in the market. These short
to medium term measures will consolidate the foundation of the
Group and get us well-equipped to grasp the opportunities when
the economy rebounces after this difficult time.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my most sincere
gratitude towards the continual support from the shareholders
and the valuable contributions of the staff. The management team
will continue to fulfill its duties to create more values for the
shareholders.

Chan Tsan Lam
Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 April 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS SEGMENT ANALYSIS

Integrated Plastic Solutions

Revenue of the integrated plastic solutions business division
was mainly derived from (i) the design and fabrication of plastic
injection moulds; and (ii) design and manufacturing of plastic
components employing the plastic injection moulds fabricated

internally or by our subcontractors.

The Group is able to specifically engineer and fabricate, with
cavities plastic injection moulds, to shape the plastic components
in accordance with the desired and customised design, features
and specifications. The Group has the technical capabilities to
fabricate moulds that meet the MT1 precision level as defined
by the “National Standard of the People's Republic of China GB/
T14486-2008-Dimensional Tolerances for Moulded Plastic
Parts” (FEARKMBEEFKIZEHEGB/T14486-2008- 2 1R 28
HERSTRZ)), which is the highest precision level in the national
guidelines. By utilising the plastic injection process and applying
the plastic injection moulds fabricated by the Group or, in limited
cases, external subcontractors, the Group manufactures plastic
components for office furniture, office electronic products, home
appliances, communication products and automobiles.

Manufacturing of E-cigarettes Products

The Group manufactured e-cigarettes products as an original
equipment manufacturer ("OEM"). Such e-cigarette products
included disposable e-cigarettes, refillable e-cigarettes, battery
rods, clearomisers, liquidpods and heated tobacco device.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$1,251.1 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$291.2 million, or approximately 30.3%, from approximately
HK$959.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018.

The integrated plastic solutions segment revenue for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$391.2 million,
accounting for approximately 31.3% of the total revenue and
representing a decrease of approximately HK$83.1 million, or
approximately 17.5%, from segment revenue of HK$474.3 million
for the year ended 31 December 2018. This decrease was primarily
due to the decrease in sales order of certain products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Revenue (Continued)

The e-cigarettes products segment revenue for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately HK$859.9 million, accounting
for approximately 68.7% of the total revenue and representing
an increase of approximately HK$374.2 million, or approximately
77.0%, from approximately HK$485.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2018. The increase was primarily due to the orders for
new model e-cigarettes devices.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately
HK$313.4 million (2018: HK$237.8 million), representing a gross profit
margin of 25.0% (2018: 24.8%)).

Segment gross profit for integrated plastic solutions for 2019 was
approximately HK$97.2 million (2018: HK$110.0 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 24.8% (2018: 23.2%). The increase in gross
profit margin was primarily contributed by the change of product mix
in which the products with higher profit margin improved the overall
gross profit margin.

Segment gross profit for e-cigarettes products for 2019 was
approximately HK$216.2 million (2018: HK$127.8 million), representing
a gross profit margin of 25.1% (2018: 26.3%). The decrease was
primarily due to the launch of new model e-cigarettes which involve
higher production costs and lower the gross profit margin.

Other Income

Other income for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$6.1 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.7 million, or approximately 13.0%, from
approximately HK$5.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The increase was primarily due to an increase of bank
interest income together with the exchange gain.

Selling and Distribution Costs

Selling and distribution costs for the year ended 31 December 2019
were approximately HK$11.4 million, which was similar to that for
the year ended 31 December 2018 (2018: HK$12.5 million).

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses for the year ended 31
December 2019 were approximately HK$135.6 million, representing
an increase of approximately HK$27.8 million, or approximately
25.8%, from approximately HK$107.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2018. The increase was primarily contributed by
the increase in headcount to support the expanded operation of
the Group, increase in pay scale to retain and recruit high profile
personnel, the performance bonus to the directors and senior
management and the increase in research and development

expenses.

Listing Expenses

The Group did not have any listing expense for the year ended 31
December 2019, compared to HK$6.4 million recorded for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2019 were
approximately HK$9.1 million, representing a decrease of
approximately HK$2.9 million, or approximately 24.2%, from
approximately HK$12.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The decrease in finance cost was primary due to the
repayment of the secured bank borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
approximately HK$37.2 million, representing an increase of
approximately HK$8.7 million, or approximately 30.5%, from
approximately HK$28.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2018. The increase in income tax expense was primarily due to the
increase in profit before tax.

Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
As a result of foregoing, profit for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$127.2 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$51.4 million, or approximately 67.8%, from
approximately HK$75.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flow and banking facilities provided by its principal
bankers. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of approximately HK$85.6 million (2018: HK$61.4
million). The interest-bearing borrowings as at 31 December 2019
was approximately HK$103.2 million (2018: HK$148.6 million)
with interest rates weighted average effective interest rate of
approximately 4.18% (2018: 4.40%) per annum. The Group's
gearing ratio as at 31 December 2019, calculated based on the total
borrowings to the equity attributable to owners of the Company,
was 39.8% (2018: 52.7%). The Group recorded net current
liabilities of approximately HK$52.9 million as of 31 December
2019 (31 December 2018: approximately HK$13.9 million). The net
current liabilities as at 31 December 2019 increased by HK$39.0
million as compared with 31 December 2018 due to the effect
from acquisition of new machines and construction of new factory
premises during the year which expended part of the cash flows
generated from operations.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The monetary assets and liabilities and business transactions of the
Group are mainly carried out and conducted in Hong Kong dollars,
the United States of America (the “U.S."”) dollars and Renminbi. In
view of the stability of the exchange rate between these currencies,
the Directors do not consider that the Group was significantly
exposed to foreign exchange risk for the year ended 31 December
2019. The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing
regular reviews of the Group's net foreign exchange exposures and
to mitigate the impact on exchange rate fluctuations by entering
into currency hedge arrangement, if necessary. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, no forward foreign exchange or hedging
contracts had been entered into by the Group. The Group will
continue to evaluate the Group's foreign currency exposure and
take actions as appropriate.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group has made no
material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries and associated
companies.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any significant

contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the Group raised from the initial public
offering were approximately HK$77.6 million, after deducting the
underwriting fees, commissions and other listing expenses. As
at 31 December 2019, approximately HK$72.9 million of the net
proceeds had been utilised. During the second half of 2019, the
Group had placed order (the “Order”) to purchase an automated
polyester fiber (“PET") manufacturing line as planned as set out
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
prospectus of the Company dated 14 February 2018 and incurred
approximately HK$1.5 million in 2019. As at 31 December 2019,
the unutilised net proceeds of approximately HK$4.7 million were
placed in licensed banks in Hong Kong, and are intended to settle
the remaining amount of the Order in 2020. Set out below is a
summary of the utilisation of net proceeds:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DM

SUBSEQUENT EVENT

Since the 2020 Chinese New Year Holidays, the Group's
operations located in Huizhou of Guangdong Province, the PRC
(the “Huizhou Operations”) were suspended as a result of the
outbreak of COVID-19. The Huizhou Operations have resumed in
operation on 13 February 2020, however due to the suspension
or limited service of transportation facilities in certain areas in
the PRC, certain workers were unable to return to the Huizhou
Operations as planned, which resulted in a temporarily drop in the
production capacity of the Huizhou Operations. It is expected by
the management that the Huizhou Operations will experience delay
in resuming their original production schedule and there will be late

delivery of products in the coming few months.

At the date of this annual report, the Group is yet to be able
to estimate the financial impact of these events. The Directors
consider those events have no significant adverse impacts to the
financial position and the going concern of the Group.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group's remuneration policy is to compensate its employees
based on their performance, qualifications and the Group's
operational results. The total remuneration of employees includes
basic salaries and performance bonus. Directors and senior
management of the Group receive compensation in the form of
fees, salaries, allowances, discretionary bonus, defined contribution
plans and other benefits in kind with reference to those paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and the performance
of the Group. The Group also reimburses its Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing
their functions in relation to the operations of the Group. The
Group regularly reviews and determines the remuneration
and compensation packages (including incentive plans) of its
Directors and senior management, by reference to, among other
things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid
by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of its
Directors and senior management and the performance of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENmKR DT

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not hold
any significant investment in equity interest in any other company.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report and the announcement of the
Company dated 8 October 2019 regarding the construction of new
factory premises in the remaining land area in Huizhou, the Group
has no plan to make material investments or increase its capital
assets.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company and any of its subsidiaries has not purchased,
redeemed or sold any of its listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2019.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 26 June 2020.
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 10 July 2020.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGNEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Tsan Lam, aged 59, is the founder of the Group. Mr.
Chan is an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company. He is primarily responsible for formulating
corporate strategies, overseeing the overall management of
business and operation of the Group. Mr. Chan is also a director
of all of the Company's subsidiaries. Mr. Chan has over 30 years
of experience in marketing, strategic planning and business
management in the manufacturing industry. From 1991 until Mr.
Chan founded Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited (“Sun Leader
HK") in September 2000, Mr. Chan worked as a sole proprietor
specializing in mould design and manufacturing. Mr. Chan is
the father of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the
Company, and Mr. Chan Tsz Wai, a senior management member
of the Company. He is one of the controlling shareholders of the
Company.

Ms. POON Po Han Lisa GBEE ), aged 57, is an executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group. Ms.
Poon has over 20 years of experience in financial management,
accounting and taxation working in professional and commercial
accounting sectors. Ms. Poon holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in accounting from The University of Hull in the United Kingdom,
and a Master's degree in Corporate Governance from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong. Ms. Poon is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants,
an associate of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and an associate of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators. Ms. Poon joined the Group in May 2008 and was
appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary in
April 2017 and executive Director in May 2019.

Ms. CHAN Yin Yan, aged 30, is an executive Director and the Chief
Operating Officer. Ms. Chan is primarily responsible for overseeing
the overall management of business and operation of the Group
and responsible for the marketing of the Group. Ms. Chan joined
the Group in June 2013 and has been responsible for managing part
of the business and developing the Group's customer base and is
the key personnel in developing the Group's e-cigarette business.
Ms. Chan holds a Bachelor's degree in Commerce from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia. Ms. Chan is the daughter
of Mr. Chan, an executive Director, Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, and the elder sister of Mr. Chan Tsz Wai,

a senior management member of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. NG Chi Wai (RE1{E), aged 41, is an independent non-
executive Director. He has over 15 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and corporate management. He has worked at the audit
department of two international accounting firms and he has held
senior management positions in different listed companies. He is
currently an executive director of a professional consultancy service
company. Mr. Ng holds a bachelor of art degree in accounting and
finance from Leeds Metropolitan University, the United Kingdom.
He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Ng has joined our Group since May 2019.

Mr. HUNG Chun Leung, aged 53, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Hung joined Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors
as a consultant solicitor in July 1997 and has become a partner
of Messrs. Terry Yeung & Lai, Solicitors since February 2016.
Mr. Hung has approximately 20 years of experience in handling
legal matters in the areas of conveyancing, mortgage finance
transactions, commercial contracts, acquisition of shares,
matrimonial cases, civil litigation and estate agents disciplinary
inquiry hearings. Mr. Hung has joined our Group since February
2018. Mr. Hung obtained his bachelor of laws degree with honours
and Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from The University of Hong
Kong. Mr. Hung was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of Hong Kong in October 1993 and has been a member of the Law
Society of Hong Kong since then.

Mr. CHAN Bing Kai, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
Director. Mr. Chan has over 40 years of experience in the industry
of manufacturing electronic products. Mr. Chan is the co-founder
of a company that designs and manufactures a comprehensive
line of audio and LED products, including CD, DVD, iPod docking
or accessories and other high-fidelity multimedia for LED OEM
customers. Mr. Chan has joined our Group since February 2018.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERGNEERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. WU Chen-Tong, aged 63, joined the Group in December
2015, is the technical consultant to the Group's research and
development department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the development and manufacturing of new products
and quality control. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wu worked as
senior management in Taiwan and Hong Kong companies where
he gained vast experiences in product design and development.
Mr. Wu holds a Bachelor's degree in Electronic Engineering from
National Taiwan Ocean University.

Mr. YUEH Yung Chan, aged 47, is the vice general manager of the
Group's engineering department and he is primarily responsible for
overseeing the operation of the Group's production plant. Prior to
joining the Group in February 2015, Mr. Yueh has over 15 years of
experience in project engineering. Mr. Yueh obtained his Bachelor
of Engineering degree in manufacturing engineering, Postgraduate
Diploma in Mechanical Engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University and Master of Science degree in Mechanical
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. CHAN Tsz Wai, aged 25, joined the Group in October 2016, is
the vice president of marketing. Mr. Chan is primarily responsible
for the development and marketing of new products of the Group.
Mr. Chan obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in Business &
Management from The University of Lincoln in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Chan is the son of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, an executive Director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and the
younger brother of Ms. Chan Yin Yan, an executive Director of the
Company.

16 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2019

SN EEE
RERSE - 6358 0 N2015F12 A0
AREE - AAEBEEEIPIM R IiTE
M FTEEREBFERNAEREE
AREEES c EMAREE 2R - =R
EECHERERBEBRAEISHRER
AB EERITEAZE I AERETE
BEMLR REABBEUAEEFXR
BEFTIEEBESL 84 -

BKIBEE 475 BASETRZHE
B FEEAREEANSELEER
R)ZE o PR20159 2 AMMAREE R
HEAEREBEEIRATEESBISFHL
B o BEALESHEBEINBRETRE
BEXNIRBE484 KR ITEZH
MRAECRAREBET KB TR

SERE LT o

BRAFIE SR E - 255% - 2016510 AN
AREE - EETSHEEIBE - Rk
SFEEEAKEFERNER LTS
HE - BREEESFSEEMNEREEMEE
BYBTE8M o RAEERBEARNITE
F IRMEERITERBMREENS
TFURRRBRITERRBEMZ TP
;ﬁ o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MEASURES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Board has
adopted the principles and the code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(the "Listing Rules”) to ensure that the Company's business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in a proper
and prudent manner.

During the Period, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions of the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules (as in effect from time to time) as the basis of the Company'’s
corporate governance practices. The Company has complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the CG Code, save and except
for the code provision A.2.1. Details of the deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 are explained in the section “Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer” of this corporate governance report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code") as its code of conduct
regarding dealings in the securities of the Company by the
Directors and the Company's senior management who, because of
his/her office or employment, is likely to possess inside information
in relation to the Company's securities.

Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have
complied with the Model Code during the Period. In addition, the
Company is not aware of any non-compliance of the Model Code
by the senior management of the Company during the Period.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

THE BOARD

Board Composition
The Board currently comprises of 6 members, consisting of 3
executive Directors and 3 independent non-executive Directors.

Executive directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa

Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Ng Chi Wai

Mr. Hung Chun Leung

Mr. Chan Bing Kai

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time
pursuant to the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical details of the directors of the Company are set out
under “Directors and Senior Management” section in this annual
report. Save as Ms. Chan Yin Yan is the daughter of Mr. Chan Tsan
Lam, none of the members of the Board is related to one another.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (“Mr. Chan") is the chairman of the Board
and chief executive officer of the Company. Although this deviates
from the practice under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code,
where it provides that the two positions should be held by two
different individuals, as Mr. Chan has considerable experience in
the enterprise operation and management of the Company, the
Board believes that it is in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole to continue to have Mr. Chan as chairman
of the Board so that it can benefit from his experience and capability
in leading the Board in the long-term development of the Company.
From a corporate governance point of view, the decisions of the
Board are made collectively by way of voting and therefore the
chairman should not be able to monopolize the decision-making of
the Board. The Board considers that the balance of power between
the Board and management can still be maintained under the current
structure. The Board shall review the structure from time to time to
ensure appropriate action be taken should the need arise.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 31 December 2019,
the Company has complied with the CG Code.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Throughout the Period, the Board has at all times met the
requirements of the Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules of having
three independent non-executive Directors (representing at least one
third of the Board) with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experience and independent
judgement to the Board and they are invited to serve on the board
committees of the Company. Through active participation at board
meeting, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict
of interests, all independent non-executive Directors have made
various contributions to the effective direction of the Company and
provided adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EEERWE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

The Company has received written confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent in light
of the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

Appointment and re-election of directors and non-
executive Directors

All Directors of the Company are appointed for a specific term,
subject to renewal upon expiry of the existing term. Each executive
Director is engaged on a service agreement for a term of three
years. The appointment may be terminated by either party by not
less than three months' written notice. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors of the Company is appointed for a term of
three years, which appointment may be terminated by either party
by not less than one month's written notice.

The procedure and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are laid down in the Company's Articles of Association
(the "“Articles”). The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing board composition, monitoring the appointment of
directors and assessing the independent non-executive Directors.

According to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the time
being (if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
at each annual general meeting provided that every director shall
be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting at least
once every three years. In addition, any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office
only until the first general meeting after appointment, and any new
director appointed by the Board as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company. The retiring Directors are eligible for re-election by the
shareholders at the respective general meetings.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

THE BOARD (Continued)

Appointment and re-election of Directors and non-
executive Directors (Continued)

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the
“"AGM"), Mr. Chan Tsan Lam and Mr. Hung Chun Leung will retire
at the AGM pursuant to the Articles provisions stated in the
foregoing paragraph. All the above retiring Directors, being eligible,
will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. The Board and the
Nomination Committee recommended their re-appointment. The
Company's circular, sent together with this annual report, contains
detailed information of the above retiring Directors as required by
the Listing Rules.

Duties performed by the Board and management

The Board is responsible for the overall development of the Group,
approving and monitoring the overall development strategy of the
Group, assessing, monitoring and controlling the operation and
financial performance, ensuring that the Directors perform their
proper duties and act in the best interests of the Group and hold
discussions on various important and proper businesses of the
Company in a timely manner. All Directors are entitled to raise
and include any matters that should be submitted to the Board for
discussion in the agenda of the board meeting. The management
shall provide members of the Board and specialized committees
under the Board with appropriate and sufficient information in a
timely manner so as to update them with the latest developments
of the Group and to better facilitate the discharge of their duties.
The management team is accountable to the Board, executing
the strategies and plans formulated by the Board, and making
decisions in relation to the day-to-day operation of the Group. The
management reports monthly to the Board on the operation and
financial performance of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

THE BOARD (Continued)

Duties performed by the Board and management
(Continued)

The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies which include:

(a) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct applicable
to the directors and employees; and

(e) to review the compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in
the corporate governance report.

Training, induction and continuing development of
Directors

Prior to the Listing, all Directors have been given relevant
guideline materials and attended a training regarding the duties
and responsibilities of being a Director, the relevant laws and
regulations applicable to the Directors, duty of disclosure of
interest in the Group. Such induction materials and briefings will
also be provided to newly appointed Directors shortly upon their
appointment as Directors. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
The Company will continue to arrange and fund the training in
accordance with code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board Meeting
During the Period, four board meetings were held and the
attendance records of individual Directors are set out below:

EEERWE

RAHM  BRTMREEREE &
E W EEERIIT

Annual General

Attendance/Number Meeting held
of Board Meetings on 28 May 2019
HE EEY R2019F5H28H
SERE ETHYRRBFEARE
Executive Directors BITEE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRIEMRIE (F/E) 4/4 1/1
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa EB ML (FA20194F 2/2 1/1
(Appointed on 28 May 2019) 528 BEERT)
Ms. Chan Yin Yan PR RN 22 = 3/4 0/1
Mr. Cheng Chak B2 S 4 (FR20194F 2/2 11
(Retired on 28 May 2019) 5H28BEMT)
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HEHITEE
Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEREAE (R20194F 2/2 11
(Appointed on 28 May 2019) 528 BEZRT)
Mr. Hung Chun Leung BB RS E 4/4 11
Mr. Chan Bing Kai PREFE A& 4/4 11
Mr. Lo Ka Ki [ R ELE A (FA20194F 2/2 11
(Retired on 28 May 2019) 528 BEM)
Board committees EEEeZEE
Nomination committee BEZEE=S

The Company established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms
of reference in compliance with code provision A5 of the CG Code.

The duties of the Nomination Committee include, without
limitation, (a) to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity (including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company's corporate strategy; (b) to determine
the policy for the nomination of directors, identify individuals
suitably qualified to become members of the Board and may
select individuals nominated for directorship; (c) to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive directors; and (d)
to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive, taking into the
Company's corporate strategy and the mix of skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity needed in the future.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Mr.
Hung Chun Leung and Mr. Ng Chi Wai. Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

During the Period, the Nomination Committee met once to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and
other related matters of the Company.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve a
sustainable and balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

Implementation

The Nomination Committee will review annually the structure,
size and composition of the Board and, where appropriate, make
recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the
Company's corporate strategy.

In reviewing and assessing the Board composition and the
nomination of directors (as applicable), board diversity has to be
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience
and length of services.

The Company will also take into account factors relating to its own
business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy

A “Nomination Policy” for Directors was formally adopted and this
incorporated the nomination criteria and principles for Directors
that are set out in the Nomination Committee's terms of reference.
The Nomination Policy applies to the directors of the Company and
where applicable, senior management prepared for Board positions
under the succession planning of the Company.

The Nomination Policy aims to (i) set out the criteria and process
in the nomination and appointment of directors of the Company;
(i) ensure that the Board of the Company has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company; and (iii) ensure the Board continuity and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the
following criteria should be considered:

*  Character and integrity;

* Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company's
business and corporate strategy;

* Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

* Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidate
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

* Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to
the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination Policy (Continued)

*  Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s)
of the Company; and

*  Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be
adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination
Committee from time to time for nomination of directors and

succession planning.

Nomination process

Appointment of new directors

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board may select
candidates for directorship from various channels, including
but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation, referral
by other member of the management and external recruitment
agents.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should, upon
receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified for
directorship.

(iii) If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable).

(iv) The Nomination Committee should then recommend to the
Board to appoint the appropriate candidate for directorship, as
applicable.

(v) For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for election
as a director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should evaluate such
candidate based on the criteria as set out above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Nomination process (Continued)

Appointment of new directors (Continued)

Where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed election of director at the general meeting.

Re-election of directors at general meeting

(i) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should review
the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring director and the level of participation and performance
on the Board.

(ii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should also
review and determine whether the retiring director continues
to meet the criteria as set out above.

(iii) The Nomination Committee and/or the Board should then
make recommendation to shareholders in respect of the
proposed re-election of director at the general meeting.

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect or re-elect
a candidate as director at the general meeting, the relevant
information of the candidate will be disclosed in the circular to
shareholders and/or explanatory statement accompanying the
notice of the relevant general meeting in accordance with the
Listing Rules and/or applicable laws and regulations.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

Details of attendance of members at meeting of the Nomination
Committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

EEgw

BEEEZEE W)
RE2ZEEE &)
REZEKENAETEFREZEZE

SEENFBOT

Attendance/
Number of Meetings
HEERRE
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman) BRI & (F /5 ) 11
Mr. Hung Chun Leung HER A 11
Mr. Lo Ka Ki (Retired on 28 May 2019) ERE A& (PR20194F /1
5 A28 HRIT)
Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Appointed on 28 May 2019) REBRFKE (R20195F 0/0
5A28BEZEE)
Audit committee BRERES

The Company established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and code provision
C3 of the CG Code.

The duties of the audit committee include, without limitation,
(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendation to
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of
the external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal; (b) to review and monitor the external
auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of
the audit process in accordance with applicable standards; and (c)
to discuss the risk management and internal control system with
management to ensure that management has performed its duty to
have effective systems.

The audit committee consists of Mr. Ng Chi Wai, Mr. Hung Chun
Leung and Mr. Chan Bing Kai. Mr. Ng Chi Wai is the chairman of
the audit committee.

During the Period, the audit committee met twice to review the
annual financial statements of the Company and the effectiveness
of the Company's financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Audit committee (Continued)

Details of attendance of members at meetings of the audit
committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

EEERWE

BEEEZES W
EREEE ()
EZZEeXENAETHFEEZEZE

SEZNFBOT

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

HEERRE

Mr. Lo Ka Ki (Chairman) EREAAE () 1/1

(Retired on 28 May 2019) (R 201945 A28 HIE(E)

Mr. Ng Chi Wai (Chairman) REBKE(EE) /1
(Appointed on 28 May 2019) (FA20194F5 A28 HEZE)

Mr. Hung Chun Leung RS AE 2/2

Mr. Chan Bing Kai PR SR PR o A 2/2

Remuneration committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“"Remuneration Committee”) on 8 February 2018 with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and paragraph
B1 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The duties of the remuneration committee, under the principle that
no Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration,
include, without limitation, (a) to make recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors and
senior management remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy; (b) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior
management; and (c) to review and approve the management's
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's corporate
goals and objectives.

The remuneration committee consists of Mr. Chan Bing Kai, Mr. Ng
Chi Wai and Mr. Chan Tsan Lam. Mr. Chan Bing Kai is the chairman
of the remuneration committee.
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THE BOARD (Continued)

Board committees (Continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

During the Period, the remuneration committee met twice to review
the remuneration policy for all directors and senior management.
Details of attendance of members at meeting of the remuneration
committee held during the Period are set out as follows:

EES 0w

EEGZER M)
FMEER (@)

RAEE FHWEESERITMASR
NEME2EEERaRETEE ZFH MK
K o HINE gk 8 R ANHAR 1 E = B

ZEegRNFBLT

Attendance/

Number of Meetings

HEEERE

Mr. Chan Bing Kai (Chairman) PRERPE A (F/) 2/2

Mr. Lo Ka Ki (Retired on 28 May 2019) ERE A (FA201945 A28 HIRE) 2/2

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam PR IE IR ST A 2/2

Mr. Ng Chi Wai REEEE 0/0

(Appointed on 28 May 2019) (FA2019F5 A28 HEZL )

COMPANY SECRETARY NEWE

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa,
who fulfils the qualification requirements laid down in the Listing
Rules. Biographical details of Ms. Poon are set out under “Directors
and Senior Management"” section in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION
The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities for the Company’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019 is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 45 to 53 of this annual report.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS AND REMUNERATION
(Continued)

The fees paid/payable to Mazars CPA Limited, the Company's
auditors, in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are analysed below:

Types of services provided by the
external auditors

SR BETRENREER

EEERWE

INERZ RN R BN € )

HZE2019F 128318 ILEE - 2 &
FARRD BB ERR (BB) &6
EBRAARRAFNZE N IFEBRSE
Aot  :

Fees paid/payable

e ENEA
HK$'000
FET
Audit services fee for the year ended HZE2019F12 A31H EFEH
31 December 2019 RERGE R 1,200
Audit-related services - Interim financial information ZER R RIS — P HAR S E R
and a major transaction NEELZS 425
Total st 1,625

*

The auditor’'s remuneration disclosed in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements included HK$133,000, which was paid/payable to the statutory
auditors of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company (not Mazars CPA Limited).

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
STATEMENT

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements for each financial year,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the results and cash flows of the Group for that year
and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure provisions of
the Listing Rules. In preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2019, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable, and have prepared
disclosure of the financial position of the Group with reasonable
accuracy at any time.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
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EEERWE

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems in order to safeguard
the Group's assets and shareholders' interests, and review and
monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control and
risk management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
the internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The purpose is to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatements, errors, losses or fraud,
and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in achieving the
Group's business objectives.

The Group does not have an internal audit function due to the
size of the Group and for cost effectiveness consideration.
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Board, through
its Audit Committee carries out reviews on the effectiveness of
the internal control and risk management systems. The Audit
Committee had reported during the Audit Committee meetings
the key findings identified by the Company’s external auditor in
respect of the Group's internal controls and risk management and
discussed findings and actions or measures taken in addressing
those findings. The Company considers the internal control
and risk management system is effective during the year under
review. No material issues on the Group's internal control and risk
management system have been identified during the year ended 31
December 2019 which required significant rectification works.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, the Board may whenever
it thinks fit call extraordinary general meetings. Any one or more
members holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals
at shareholders' meeting

If a shareholder wishes to put forward proposals at a shareholders’
meeting, the shareholder, who has satisfied the shareholding
requirements set out in the above paragraph headed “Procedures
for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”,
may follow the same procedures by sending a written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary at the principal place of
business of the Company in Hong Kong. The shareholder should
state his/her proposals in the written requisition and submit the
written requisition as early as practicable to enable the company
secretary to make necessary arrangement.

Procedures for directing shareholder's enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for
putting forward any enquiries or proposals to the Board. Contact
details are as follows:

Address: Workshop Unit 6, 13th Floor, Block B, Hoi Luen
Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun Tong,
Hong Kong

Email: info@hktcgroup.com

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send
the original duly signed written requisition, notice or statement,
or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above address and provide
their full name, contact details and identification in order to give
effect thereto.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Groups' business performance
and strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
will enable shareholders and investors to make the best investment
decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a platform for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The
Chairman of the Board as well as chairmen of the Nomination
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee or
in their absence, other members of the respective committees,
and, where applicable, the chairman of the independent board
committee are available to answer questions at the shareholders’
meeting.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a
website at www.hktcgroup.com where up-to-date information and
updates on the Company's business operations and development,
financial information and other information are available to public
access.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Period, the Company did not make any changes to its
Articles. An up-to-date version of the Articles is available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The principal activities of the Company is investment holding.
Principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 12 to the
consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year, a discussion
on the Group's future business development and an analysis
of the Group's performance during the year using key financial
performance indicators are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement”
on pages 4 to 6 and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 7 to 13 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group was not aware
of material non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operations of the
Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS AND EMPLOYEES

We recognise that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to our sustainable development. We are committed to establishing
a close and caring relationship with our employees, providing high
quality products and services to our customers and maintaining
cooperation with our suppliers.

We provide a fair and safe workplace, promote diversity,
and provide competitive remuneration packages and career
development opportunities for our employees based on their
performance and experience. The Group also provides regular
training and development resources to the employees so that they
can keep abreast of the latest development of the market and the
industry and, at the same time, improve their performance and
self-fulfillment in their positions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group include
market and financial risks.

Market Risks

The fluctuation of prices of raw materials exposes us to risks.
While we monitor the price of raw materials and adjust our price
quotations accordingly, we may not be able to directly pass on any
increase in the price of raw materials to our customers in time or
at all, which may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Financial Risks
The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE
The Group recognises the importance of environmental protection
and has adopted stringent measures for environmental protection
in order to ensure our compliance with the prevailing environmental
protection laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group did not have any violation of relevant
environmental regulations and rules which gives rise to significant
impact to the Group’s development, performance and businesses.

The environmental, social and governance report will be published
in a separate report to be uploaded on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange respectively.

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 167 of this annual
report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company at the close of business on 26 June 2020.
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting. The final
dividend, if approved, is expected to be paid on 10 July 2020.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM
to be held on 28 May 2020, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from 25 May 2020 to 28 May 2020, both
dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of the Company should ensure that all share
transfer documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
are lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2020.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 24
June 2020 to 26 June 2020 (both days inclusive) for the purpose
of determining the identity of members who are entitled to the
final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019, during which
period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In
order to qualify for the final dividend, all transfers accompanied by
the relevant share certificates, must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 23
June 2020.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the
past five financial years are set out on page 168 of this annual
report. The summary does not form part of the audited financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movement in the Group's property, plant and
equipment during the year are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of the bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 December
2019 are set out in Note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the Company's share capital during
the Period are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

On 28 December 2018, the Board approved and adopted a dividend
policy that, in recommending or declaring dividends, the Company
shall maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working
capital requirements, future business growth and its shareholding
value.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the
Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the
Period.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in reserves of the Company and the
Group during the Period are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Period and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam (Chairman)
Ms. Poon Po Han Lisa

Ms. Chan Yin Yan

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ng Chi Wai

Mr. Hung Chun Leung

Mr. Chan Bing Kai

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Company's Articles, Mr. Chan Tsan
Lam and Mr. Hung Chun Leung will retire at the AGM and, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out
in Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors entered into a services agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by either party giving not
less than three months' notice in writing.

The Company has issued a letter of appointment to each of the
independent non-executive Directors for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date, unless terminated by either
party giving to the other not less than one month's notice in
writing.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service agreement which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party
Transactions” in this report and Note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the business
of the Group to which the Company, its holding company, or any of
its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Period.

DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

At no time during the Period was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of
the Company to acquire by means of acquisition of shares, or debt
securities, including debentures, of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions
of the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinances (the “SFO")), as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the
Company

EERARD HERORERE
FHES

RARERE  ARFEERETETH
ABRAR R REREEZ® (FxR(E
HFREEEN) ([BEHFERBEKRG ) E
XVE) R - HERD REEETHS
AT IRIEFEH KB E G E 352 1§52 8%
REZIEFTIE B M AR RS A R
SARIE E AR B e AT S LT BT
ABFETELFZSHZESAN ([
EpAl ) EME AR R R AT D
MoRAE

RAATSRTEBRNER

Number of Approximate

shares or percentage of

Name of Director Capacity underlying shares shareholding
EEnE g4 R4 AR5 B B BORET DL
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam Interest in controlled corporation 373,395,000 60.2%

(Note)
PR IE MR ST A SYEHEBEER ()

Note: These shares are held by Oceanic Green Group Limited (“Oceanic
Green"), New Strength Ventures Limited (“"New Strength"), Gold Alliance
Ventures Limited (“Gold Alliance”) and Treasure Line Holdings Limited
("Treasure Line"), all of which are wholly owned by Mr. Chan Tsan Lam.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is deemed to be interested in the
shares held by Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure
Line.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company and its associated corporation (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executive of the Company) had interests in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO:

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the
Company

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEEHRE

FERRARDRERRDH
e

RAREBHR  UTAL (RARRIES
REZBITERABBRINRARR RN
MR DT HEB AT ARERE S MHE
GBI 336 1A R RIFCER N % IR P35 EY
Breft e

REQTDECBRITEBRNETR

Approximate
percentage of

Number of the total issued
ordinary shares of shares of
Name of Shareholder(s) Capacity the Company held the Company
HAEARZIERT
REREHE 54 A QRS EREE BREHBHNE DL
Oceanic Green Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 Shares 20.5%
a2 EnEBA 127,100,000 A& i 7 20.5%
New Strength Beneficial Owner 127,100,000 Shares 20.5%
A EREAA 127,100,000 A% % 15 20.5%
Gold Alliance Beneficial Owner 94,395,000 Shares 15.2%
Z 1 BEmEAA 94,395,000 i A& 15 15.2%
New Straits Ventures Beneficial Owner 79,205,000 Shares 12.8%
Limited®
EREIIRARAFS EnlEBEA 79,205,000 f& & 1% 12.8%
Treasure Line Beneficial Owner 24,800,000 Shares 4.0%
Treasure Line EnEBA 24,800,000 f& i 17 4.0%
Mr. Chan Tsan Lam® Interest in controlled corporation 373,395,000 Shares 60.2%
BRIEMELED REHEEER 373,395,000 B i 15 60.2%
Ms. Fung Suk Yee May® Interest of Spouse 373,395,000 Shares 60.2%
HREL L@ R =L e 373,395,000 A& i 17 60.2%
Mr. Cheng Chak® Interest in controlled corporation 79,205,000 Shares 12.8%
EESEHES REHEEE R 79,205,000 B A& 1% 12.8%
Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline® Interest of Spouse 79,205,000 Shares 12.8%
HEEZL® R =L e 79,205,000 & % {7 12.8%
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES (conTINUED)

Long position in issued ordinary shares of the
Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) Each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and Treasure Line is
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan, who is therefore deemed to be interested in all
the Shares held by each of Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance, and
Treasure Line.

(2) Ms. Fung Suk Yee May is the spouse of Mr. Chan. Therefore, she is deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Chan is interested for the
purpose of the SFO.

(3) New Straits Ventures Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Cheng Chak. By virtue
of the SFO, Mr. Cheng Chak is deemed to be interested in the shares of the
Company held by New Straits Ventures Limited.

(4) Ms. Chong Po Lin Pauline is the spouse of Mr. Cheng Chak. Therefore,
she is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company in which Mr.
Cheng Chak is interested for the purpose of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, the Directors
were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who had an interest or short
position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who is, directly or
indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any
class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of any other members of the Group, or any other
substantial shareholders whose interests or short positions were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 28 May 2019 (the
“Scheme”). No share option has been granted since the adoption
of the Scheme and there was no share option outstanding as at 31
December 2019.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has received annual confirmations from the
controlling shareholders, Mr. Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New
Strength, Gold Alliance, and Treasure Line and, in respect of their
compliance with the non-competition undertaking provided in
favour of the Company. The independent non-executive Directors
have reviewed the said undertaking and are of the view that Mr.
Chan Tsan Lam, Oceanic Green, New Strength, Gold Alliance and
Treasure Line have complied with the non-competition undertaking
since the Listing Date up to the date of this report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Related party transactions entered into by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019 are disclosed in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. These transactions had either
been discontinued before the Company was listed on the Stock
Exchange or constitute fully-exempted continuing connected
transactions under the Listing Rules as at the date of this report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's revenue and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively
during the Period is as follows:
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Percentage of the Group's total

EREEUTRENE S

Revenue Purchases

Wz KB

The largest customer S PN 72% N/A i@
The five largest customers in aggregate FAAZFPAET 93% N/A 3 A
The largest supplier BAHER N/A 5 43%
The five largest suppliers in aggregate A RHEREET N/A i 63%

Save as disclosed above and so far as the Board are aware,
neither the Directors, their associates nor any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than
5% of the Company’'s share capital) had any beneficial interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
annual report, there was a sufficient prescribed public float of the
issued shares of the Company under the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the
assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
sustain or incur by the execution of his/her duty, provided that the
indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect of any fraud
or dishonesty which may attach to any of the said persons. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors liability insurance in
respect of legal action against the Directors.

TAX RELIEF

The Directors are not aware of any relief from taxation available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the shares of the Company, they
are advised to consult an expert.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditors, Messrs. Mazars
CPA Limited, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Tsan Lam

Chairman

Hong Kong, 20 April 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of
Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tian
Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 54 to 167, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group at 31 December
2019, and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements" section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BY ZBEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BREENEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional BT R BRI PIA) 5 AT -
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the REAHARFELRAMERRNESRES
consolidated financial statements for the current year. These FEMNFE ZSFTHEERCRMEBE
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the BaRAMBERRNEESREEITEIE
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our H o AT @ ZE=HITHEENE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 8-

matters.

The key audit matters
BRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB NAEERERAEE

Going concern
Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
- going concern

BRI E BRI T2 — 1585 %

Throughout recent years, the Group has been investing
significant amount for the construction of the new
site in Huizhou, Guangdong province, the People's
Republic of China. To finance the operations of the
Group, the Group incurred significant borrowings.
As a consequence, the current liabilities of the
Group exceeded its current assets by approximately
HK$52,908,000 as at 31 December 2019 (2018:
HK$13,920,000).

EEBRNOTAFHEREERIEARERIRFEA
REFMBERENEMIL - AR SEEEKRME
Ed - BESEEELEREGER - Bt - %K2019F12 A31
H EfERHEEBBEREHEEL52,908,000%
7L (20184 :13,920,000/87T) °

46 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2019

Our key audit procedures included:

BPeBERESAZF 2

inspecting the banking facilities letters;

- EBRRTREX

- verifying the unutilised amounts of the available
banking facilities; and

- BZERAPANAARITRER &




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTinuED)

The key audit matters
BREENSE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BYZHEERE

AREITEEw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRANETOEERRENER

Going concern (Continued)

FFEAE (5E)

Refer to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements
- going concern (Continued)

BHEE B REN T2 — HESE (8)

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$237,517,000 (2018:
HK$172,623,000).

B2019F12 A31H - BEEEAARSHHAMNRITREL
237,517,000/ 7T (20184F :172,623,000,%47T) °

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter because should the Group be unable to operate
as a going concern, significant adjustments would have
been made to the consolidated financial statements.

BZHEKELAFEERSERENFEH  RERMH
 BEBRBEIRSELEERLE  ABaa i
BRIFHERAE -

- enquiring and challenging the management on the
assessment of the Group's adoption of the going
concern assumption.

~ SARENETEEY EEERABELEERLN
$Te -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BY ZBEHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTinueD)

The key audit matters
BRETBE

ARBEITEEw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNETNEERRENER

Recoverability of trade receivables

B 5 BN T Bl

Refer to Note 17 and Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements - critical accounting estimates and
judgements

DRFE I REMN T 17 KM E2 — BI &5 15T R A
ki

At 31 December 2019, the carrying amount of
trade receivables amounted to approximately
HK$120,777,000 (after the provision of approximately
HK$4,568,000), which approximated 12% of the
Group's total assets.

R2019F12A318 - ESEWFENERENA
120,777,000 7T (BT e B %) 4,568,000/87T)
1y BEEBBEENLNY °

Management performed credit evaluations for the
Group's customers and assessed expected credit
losses of trade receivables. These assessments were
focused on the customers' settlement record and their
current repayment ability, and also took into account
information specific to respective customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operated.

BEEY BERENTPETEENGLEESRBUGK
ENFAREEERELNE - ZFFEZENTPNE
B HBAEEREN  TEEHEBEEFAESREE
EREERENERER -
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Our key audit procedures included:

BABEREAZF 2 -

- obtaining management's assessment of expected
credit losses of trade receivables and assessed the
reasonableness of the key underlying information
referenced by the management;

- DSEREYHESHRKFENTEREEEBRETH
Al WAHMEEREM2ENRBEEENEE S
I8

- checking and assessing whether the impairment
provision was properly supported by considering
available forward-looking information, the debtors’
ageing analysis, settlement record and history of
bad debt; and

— RERFEAERERTEERTSNEEEH
R NIRRT S H R R & iR IE R
2F R




KEY AUDIT MATTERS (conTinueD)

The key audit matters
BRESBE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B ZHERE

AREITEEw

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

ERNETOTEERRENER

Recoverability of trade receivables (Continued)
B S EWRSERN AW EM (5)

Refer to Note 17 and Note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements - critical accounting estimates and
judgements (Continued)

DR A I IE M 17 Rt 2 — B 2ot i at KA
& (48)

All of these assessments involved significant
judgements of the management.

FrAZEHE S RENERE A -

We have identified the above matter as a key audit
matter because subjective judgements were made by
the management over assessing the credit standing of
the Group's customers and therefore the estimation of
expected credit losses of trade receivables.

BMER Lt ZRERSEREAEH  REZEEE
it BESERPHOEMMRL AL A E B R
EMEREEEREL B -

- in respect of receivables of individual customer
which had not been identified by management
as potentially impaired, we corroborated
management's assessment with the external
evidence obtained (e.g. public information available
to us, our examination of the customers’ payment
records during the current year and subsequent
to the end of the reporting period, as well as the
historical collection records, etc.).

— BREEEERNREERENEREF 2 &R
EME - RIEEMESZIMNBERE (R RE
AREH  HARAFERBRERREEEP M
FCERM IR B IA SR L AR AE 8 ) B E B B EAVRT
ft o

AREEERERAF
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB R E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the 2019 annual report of the Company but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

50 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

* |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

* Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BB R E

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (coNTINUED)

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (conTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

Mazars CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 20 April 2020

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor's report is:

She Shing Pang

Practising Certificate number: PO5510

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
e lER

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHExT FHET
Revenue ezs 4 1,251,074 959,947
Cost of goods sold 72 3 B A AR (937,715) (722,123)
Gross profit EF 313,359 237,824
Other income EablUg A 5 6,143 5,410
Fair value gain (loss) on financial BARBEFABENEEE
assets at FVPL N EkE (EBE) 6 847 (272)
Selling and distribution costs THE K SRR (11,374) (12,457)
Administrative and other THREAMEERE
operating expenses (135,555) (107,794)
Finance costs B 7SR AN 6 (9,069) (12,027)
Listing expenses WX - (6,402)
Profit before tax RREBE AT F 6 164,351 104,282
Income tax expenses PSR 2 9 (37,155) (28,527)
Profit for the year, attributable to  AATERIFEA
equity holders of the Company FEAG & RSB F 127,196 75,755
Earnings per share attributable to  RATERIEEA HK cents HK cents
equity holders of the Company EheRAEF AL AL
Basic R 1 20.52 12.80
Diluted i n 20.52 12.80

54 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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TATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mETHEWER

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

2019 2018
20196 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Profit for the year F T 127,196 75,755
Other comprehensive loss: Htt 2 mEEE
Item that may be reclassified A% EINABm o HE
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on consolidation ~ & GfE N, =58 (13,312) (4,831)
Total comprehensive income AATERBEAEGER
for the year, attributable to 2HWREHEEE
equity holders of the Company 113,884 70,924
AREEEZERERATR

2019F F 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBARRE

At 31 December 2019 FA2019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHExT FHET
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e =N 13 621,025 484,833
Prepaid land lease payments TEf LT E FIE 14 - 43,91
Financial assets at FVPL BRARBEFABRNESRIEE 15 28,419 26,841
Deferred tax assets FERIAE E 23 1,238 2,818
650,682 558,403
Current assets REEE
Prepaid land lease payments TEfS L E A 14 - 1,085
Inventories FE 16 83,882 85,928
Trade and other receivables B 5 N H A WA 17 153,365 261,561
Income tax recoverable AR B FTE R 33 3,358
Bank balances and cash RITEB MRS 85,567 61,414
322,847 413,346
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B REMENRIE 18 211,596 252,854
Income tax payables FEfTET R 2,603 14,443
Payables for construction in progress JEfH#EiE T2 FIA 19 35,642 11,927
Interest-bearing borrowings SPEMER 20 103,177 125,627
Obligations under finance leases RhE T &R 21 - 22,415
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 22,737 -
375,755 427,266
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (52,908) (13,920)
Total assets less current liabilities Z2EERABARS 597,774 544,483
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRE

At 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHExT FET
Non-current liabilities kRBERS
Payables for construction in progress BN EiE T2 1A 19 12,280 11,827
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEER 20 - 22,969
Obligations under finance leases RBhE FHEAIE 21 - 42,879
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 39,754 -
Deferred tax liabilities FEERIAAE 23 8,515 15,567
60,549 93,242
NET ASSETS BEERE 537,225 451,241
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital (&N 24 62,000 62,000
Reserves B 25 475,225 389,241
TOTAL EQUITY R 537,225 451,241

These consolidated financial statements on pages 54 to 167 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20

April 2020 and signed on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
FR 4R K

Director

EF

FEL54B8F167 ERZELH A MBEREIR
2020F 4 20 HEZE FS &R IRIE

T LHUATEFEAREL

CHAN Yin Yan

PR 3 iR
Director

EF

AREEERERAF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSBR

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KRRERHEAEN
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory ~ Translation ~ Revaluation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve feserve reserve feserve profits Total
Bx  BHEE EARE  ARRE  BEEE  EREE  ZHEA @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tin T Tin Thn T Thn T Tin
(Note 24)  (Note 25(2)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(c)) (Note 25(d)) (Note 25(¢))
(Pisk24) (Wiz2se) (MEk2sw)) (WE2s0) (KEEas))  (HE2se))
At1January 2018 R201851818 -t 77810 4837 1,860 801 198,806 28414
Adjustment on adoption RiEETBREEN

of HKFRS 9 FIRMHE - - (807) 801
As at 1 January 2018 081 A1R (%)

(after adjustment) - 77,810 4837 1860 199,607 284114
Profitfor the year ERE - - 75,755 75,755
Other comprehensive loss: B2 :
ltem that may be reclassifed A AEEFINERIES

subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on ARELEE

consolidation (4,831 (4,831)
Total comprehensive (loss) M2 (B8 REEE

income for the year (4,831) 75,755 70924
Transactions with owners: ~ EEFAHRS .

Appropriation of statutory ROEERE

reserve - - 7,498 (7,498)
Issue of shares pursuant to the  REEAIETEIR(R

Capitalisation Issue (Hi240))

(Note 24(b)) 46,500 (46,500)

Issue of shares pursuant tothe  IREZIREER{TRY

Global Offering (Note 24(c)) ~ (Hiit24(c)) 15500 94550 110,050
Transaction costs attributable ~ ZTR/AEEA T HHA

to issue of shares (Kt 24(0)

(Note 24(c)) (13,847) (13,847)
Total transactions with owners ~ EREFEANRHLE

for the year 62,000 34,203 7,498 (7,498) 96,203
At 31 December 2018 R2018E12531R 62,000 34,203 77,810 12,335 291 267,864 451,241

* less than HK$1,000
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSBR

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RATREEEAELE
Share Share Capital  Statutory Translation Revaluation Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total
Rx  ROEE ERRE  tRRG  RERE  EMRE  ZHEN st
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THR Ti#n THR Ti#n THR Ti#n TR Ti#n
(Note 24) (Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b)) (Note 25(c)) (Note 25(d)) (Note 25(e))
(Wit2a) (WiE2s) (WaE2s) (WE25(c) (HE25(d) (HE25())
At1January 2019 R2019%1818 62,000 34,203 71,810 12,335 (2971) 267,864 451,241
Profit for the year ERigh 12719 127,19
Other comprehensive loss: ~ Et2FEHE
ltem that may be reclassified AR ZEEFNER7ER
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange difference on AREREE
consolidation - - - - (13,312) (13,312)
Total comprehensive (loss) M2 () WHEE
income for the year . . - . (13312) 127,196 113,884
Transactions with owners: ~ EEFANRS .
Appropriation of statutory ROEERE
reserve - - - 1,659 (11,659) -
Dividends (Note 70) &e (Hito) - - - - (27,9000 (27,900)
Total transactions with owners ~ EREREANTH4%E
for the year - - - 11,659 (39,559)  (27,900)
At 31December 2019 R2019E12831R 62,000 34,203 71,810 23,994 (16,283) 355,501 537,225
AREEEZERERATR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mERERER
Year ended 31 December 2019 #ZE2019F12 A31H ILF/E
2019 2018
2019F 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5t FHET FHET

OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETE
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 26 283,112 124,633
Income tax paid BAFTER (50,603) (14,136)
Net cash from operating activities K& EHFIESRESFE 232,509 110,497
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Interest received 2HFE 791 47
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE « BWE M&E

plant and equipment FTiS 508 3,628 3,831
Purchase of property, plant and BEME BELEME

equipment (98,008) (47,280)
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BEEER AR EFT AEBZD

TREE (731) (16,607)

Net cash used in investing activities REFE AR L FE (94,320) (60,009)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Dividends paid EfRRE (27,900) -
Inception of interest-bearing SIAFTEBR

borrowings 28(b) 223,863 408,190
Repayment of interest-bearing BEFTEBEX

borrowings 28(b) (267,622) (449,952)
Repayment of payables for EERENEREIENE

construction in progress 28(b) (7,549) (39,286)
Repayment of lease liabilities/ BREEEE MEHERE

obligations under finance leases 28(b) (29,473) (12,194)
Proceeds from the Global Offering ~ &I EE A 24(c) - 110,050
Payment for transaction costs ST EITRRD B R H AN

attributable to issue of shares 24(c) - (13,847)
Interest paid ENFE (5,849) (10,877)
Net cash used in financing activities BEEFEFFABR L FE (114,530) (7,916)
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SOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

=1
SMERERER
Year ended 31 December 2019 # 201912 A31H IEF/E
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FHExT FHET
Net increase in cash and cash HeRBReSEYEMTFE
equivalents 23,659 42,572
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUHEESRESEEY
beginning of the year 61,414 18,567
Effect on exchange rate changes fEREFB 2 494 275
Cash and cash equivalents at the =~ FREERREEEY -
end of the year, represented by BIRITHESBREAES
bank balances and cash 85,567 61,414
AREEEZERERATR

2019F F 3R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION AND BASIS OF
PRESENTATION

Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 26 April 2017 and its shares are
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 8 March 2018. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Chan Tsan Lam
(the “Ultimate Controlling Party”). The registered office of
the Company is situated at Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company'’s principal place of business is situated at Unit 6, 13/
F, Block B, Hoi Luen Industrial Centre, 55 Hoi Yuen Road, Kwun
Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Company together with its subsidiaries (hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Group"”) is principally engaged
in manufacturing and sales of electronic cigarettes products
("e-cigarettes products”) and providing integrated plastic
solutions in Hong Kong and in the People’s Republic of China
(the “"PRC"). The details of the subsidiaries are set out in Note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and the applicable disclosure requirements under
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Going concern

At 31 December 2019, the current liabilities of the Group
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$52,908,000
(2018: HK$13,920,000).

At 31 December 2019, the Group had unutilised banking
facilities of approximately HK$237,517,000 (2018:
HK$172,623,000).

The management of the Company is of the opinion that,
taking into account the confirmed credit commitments from
financial institutions and internal financial resources of the
Group, the Group has sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. Hence, the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis. Should the
Group be unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments
would have to be made to write down the value of assets
to their recoverable amounts, and to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise. The effect of these adjustments
has not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted by the
Group in preparing the consolidated financial statements is set
out below.

The Group has consistently applied all HKFRSs which are
effective for the Group's financial year beginning on 1 January
2018 for the consolidated financial statements, except for the
adoption of the new/revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the
Group and effective from the current year as set out below.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

2. TESHEERw

MN2019F12 A318 » REERHE
BRBE R EEL52,908,000/%5
TT (20184 : 13,920,000 ) ©

MW2019F12 A318 » "EEB KE
FARRITRLE #9237,517,0008 7T
(20184 :172,623,000%7T) °

ARAEEERR  EEIAKHE
ZEHABNTHEBEEAER
NEHBER  NEBEERENE
EBED  AmEERHR - Bt
RAEPBHRRVIEFELEERER
o WMAKBEEESELE  AIA
EHHE  UKBEEBERLER
A EE R - WL Al BEE £ R
E—FABELRE - BEFAEDN
FEWERRIEGEPERERSD

AEBREZEAVBERRERAH
TESFHHEMBEN T

BRER A N3Pt AN SR E AR RA B R
AEFREYRNIREETER
MBREELSI - AEEZHZRAY
BHRRCERERAEAEES2018
F1AVBRIRN S BFEER
BEBMEREER -

AREEEZERERAF
2019FF %R
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Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied, for the first time, the following new/
revised HKFRSs that are relevant to the Group.

Annual Improvements Project - 2015-2017 Cycle

HKFRS 3: Previously held interest in a joint operation

The amendments clarify that obtaining control of a
business that is a joint operation is a business combination
achieved in stages. The acquirer shall therefore apply
the requirements for a business combination achieved in
stages, including remeasuring its entire previously held
interest in the joint operation.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 11: Previously held interest in a joint operation

The amendments clarify that when an entity that
participated in a joint operation which is a business
obtains joint control of the joint operation, its previously
held interest in the joint operation is not remeasured.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEETHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Annual Improvements Project - 2015-2017 Cycle
(Continued)

- HKAS 12: Income tax consequences of payments on
financial instruments classified as equity
The amendments clarify that (a) the income tax
consequences of dividends are recognised in profit or
loss, other comprehensive income or equity according to
where the past transactions or events that generated the
distributable profits were originally recognised and (b)
these requirements apply to all income tax consequences
of dividends as defined in HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

- HKAS 23: Borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation

The amendments clarify that (a) if a specific borrowing
remains outstanding after the related qualifying asset is
ready for its intended use or sale, it becomes part of the
funds an entity borrows generally and (b) funds borrowed
specifically to obtain an asset other than a qualifying asset
are included as part of general borrowings.

The adoption of the amendments does not have
any significant impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

mEMBHRRMET
Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

2. TESHEERw

AN RETERYK

HER )
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FRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEETHE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23: Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 supports the requirements in HKAS 12
Income Taxes by specifying how to reflect the effects of
uncertainty in accounting for income taxes.

The adoption of HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 19: Employee Benefits

The amendments require the use of updated assumptions
to determine current service cost and net interest for the
remainder of the reporting period after a change is made to a
plan.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 28: Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that long-term interests in an
associate or joint venture, to which the equity method is not
applied, are accounted for using HKFRS 9.

The adoption of the amendments does not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9: Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that prepayable financial assets with
negative compensation can be measured at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive income instead of at
FVPL if specified conditions are met.

The adoption of the amendments did not have any significant
impact on the consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 16: Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 and related Interpretations
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. It
significantly changes, among others, the lessee accounting
by replacing the dual-model under HKAS 17 with a single
model which requires a lessee to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for the rights and obligations created
by all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless
the underlying asset is of low value. For lessor accounting,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to
classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and
to account for those two types of leases differently. HKFRS 16
also requires enhanced disclosures to be provided by lessees
and lessors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 E Z20194F12 A31H L F &

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

In accordance with the transitional provisions, the Group has
applied HKFRS 16 for the first time at 1 January 2019 (i.e.
the date of initial application, the "DIA") using the modified
retrospective approach in which comparative information
has not been restated. Instead, the Group recognised
the cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as an
adjustment to the balance of accumulated profits or other

component of equity, where appropriate, at the DIA.

The Group elected to use the transition practical expedient not
to reassess whether a contract was, or contained, a lease at
the DIA and the Group applied HKFRS 16 only to contracts that
were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and to
contracts entered into or changed on or after the DIA that are
identified as leases applying HKFRS 16.

As lessee

Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were
classified as operating or finance lease in accordance with the
Group's accounting policies applicable prior to the DIA.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the
leases in accordance with the transition provisions of HKFRS 16
and the Group's accounting policies applicable from the DIA.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessee - leases previously classified as operating leases

The Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
for leases previously classified as operating leases at the DIA,
except for leases for which the underlying asset is of low value,
and the Group applied the following practical expedients on a
lease-by-lease basis:

(a) applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with
reasonably similar characteristics;

(b) adjusted the right-of-use assets at the DIA by the provision
for onerous leases recognised immediately before the DIA
by applying HKAS 37, as an alternative to performing an
impairment review at the DIA;

(c) did not recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to
leases for which the lease term ends within 12 months of
the DIA;

(d) excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the
right-of-use assets at the DIA; and

(e) used hindsight in determining the lease term where the
contract contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

2019F F 3R | .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=2019F12 A31H L F[E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEETHE

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessee - leases previously classified as operating leases
(Continued)

At the DIA, except for those that were previously or will be
accounted for as investment property using the fair value
model, right-of-use assets were, on a lease-by-lease basis,
measured at either,

(a) their carrying amount as if HKFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the DIA; or

(b) an amount equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted by the
amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating
to the lease recognised immediately before the DIA.

Lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee's
incremental borrowing rate at the DIA.

Reconciliation of operating lease commitments disclosed
applying HKAS 17 at 31 December 2018 and lease liabilities
recognised at the DIA is as follows.
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HK$'000
FHET
Operating lease commitments MR2018F 12 A31H 2 B & E#IE
at 31 December 2018 90
Less: Short-term leases and other leases B R HATE & R g N AH A
with remaining lease term ending 201912 A31H 3K
on or before 31 December 2019 ZAIERBEMIEE (90

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES contnuedy 2. FEEHBE @

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessee - leases previously classified as finance leases

The Group measures the carrying amount of the right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities at the DIA at the carrying amount
of the lease assets and lease liabilities immediately before
that date measured applying HKAS 17. The Group accounts for
those leases applying HKFRS 16 from the DIA.
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WEAER (@)

ERAMBHREERNSE165 -
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HEE

RERERAH AEENUEERZ
BHEIRTRAE BT ERE 1755
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AEEREEERMEAGRNER
B - AEE B & RER A HERS
BEMBREEANE 1R EZETH
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As lessee - presentation EREBA-27
At the DIA, except for those that meet the definition of REXERBEH BHFAREWE
investment properties, all other right-of-use assets were REMEEN FTEEMER#

presented as "right-of-use assets” under property, plant and
equipment on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Besides, lease liabilities including those previously presented
under "“obligations under finance leases” were shown
separately on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessee - presentation (Continued)
As a result, transfer was made at the DIA to reflect the

2. TEETHE

RAM]RETERYK

WEAER (@)

ERUBHREERNF 165 - A

—{¢ )

EREBA- 25 )

FEitk - R ERER B HETEEI

changes in presentation: f Bk 2 51|
Classification Classification
and carrying  Reclassification and carrying
amount under  on adoption of amount under
HKAS 17 HKFRS 16 HKFRS 16
EEEHEL  RMERME  FRUBRE
EUHETH  REEUF6R  EIE6HTH
PEREEE  RBNEFSE  SEREEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR T
Non-current assets FRBEE
Prepaid land lease payments (Note 74) BN LEETE (W) 44,996 (44,996)
Property, plant and equipment (machinery nE - BERRE(REREHELA
and equipment under finance leases) (Note 13) I Rk f8) (H/3213) 95,011 (95,011)
Right-of-use assets, presented in property, % - BERXERZFH
plant and equipment (Note 13) EREARE (I#13) - 140,007 140,007
140,007 - 140,007
Current liabilities ik =V
Obligation under finance leases (Note 21) REBERE (Wat2r) 22,415 (22,415) -
Lease liabilities (Note 22) BEREHT2) - 2,415 2,415
2415 - 2,415
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Obligation under finance leases (Note 21) BEMERE (W) 42,879 (42,879) -
Lease liabilities (Note 22) BEAR(WL2) - 42,879 42,879
12879 - 12879
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs (Continued)

HKFRS 16: Leases (Continued)

As lessor

The Group is not required to make any adjustments on
transition for leases in which it is a lessor and those leases are
accounted for by applying HKFRS 16 from the DIA.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is historical cost, except for
the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"),
which are measured at fair value as explained in the accounting
policy as set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. The
financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as that of the Company using consistent
accounting policies.

All intra-group balance, transactions, income and expenses and
profits and losses resulting from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
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Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position which is
presented in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment
loss. The carrying amount of the investments is reduced to
its recoverable amount on an individual basis, if it is higher
than the recoverable amount. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the dividends received and/
or receivable.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use. Repairs
and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss during the
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less accumulated
impairment losses of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives as
set out below from the date on which they are available for use
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method. Where parts of an item of
property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the
cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
and depreciated separately:

Right-of-use assets Shorter of useful lives or over the unexpired term of lease

Buildings 50 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
Leasehold improvements 20 years or over the lease term, as appropriate
Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Machinery and equipment ~ 5-10 years

Motor vehicles 3years

Computer 5-10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognised.

Construction in progress represents buildings, leasehold
improvements and machinery and equipment under
construction. It is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the
direct costs of construction during the period of construction.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when the
construction is completed and the asset is available for use.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

2. TEEHHER@w

ME - BERRE @

WE - BB RERE (ERITRERIN)
RINAESRERBRA - £2E
DIEGERSREER  BAEAHE
Rz BELEARTEITE - M
AR REHRERE © WY

BEREEEE 2SBOEETR

WA AR EARR - ZIB B 2 AR SAH

EgR R BEESKEMFTEN

5

RARAE FRFHIAINEERN
(hEEE BE)

BF SOENAEHNA (miEh)

HEWMERE 059N ERESN(ER)

BRRETRE SF

BRREE 5E106F

"E 3E

Bl 5E106F

ME - BERZEEERNEHEHE

Hﬂﬁ%‘“@ﬁﬁ BERBTSEAERKRLE

ERMERIUSER - BUEEREE
Fﬁ?iﬁ’]ﬁﬂ%ﬁnjﬂgﬂ% (lRE&
Fris s IB SRR Mm% IE B REENE
Bt E)RBEUE®RIE B M B
Az o

CTREIRBELEET HEME
HAS R R 8t - TR TIRIRAK
AR R EE 185 Bk B 5T
RITE - KAHBREBRENEERZ
ERARERK o EETERMITEK
&EFiJT%#%&iﬁ‘ﬁz
HRYE - BB REEER -

AREEEZERERAF
2019FF %R

75



Prepaid land lease payments

Before 1 January 2019, prepaid land lease payments are
up-front payments to acquire fixed term interests in
lessee-occupied land that are classified as operating leases.
The premiums are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses and are amortised over the period of the
lease on a straight-line basis to profit or loss. From 1 January
2019, those payments are accounted for as “right-of-use
assets” categorised in “property, plant and equipment”.

Research and development cost

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred
in development activities, which involve the application
of research findings to a plan or design for the production
of new or substantially improved products and processes,
are capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
to complete the development. The expenditure capitalised
includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Other development expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss as an expense as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments and on a trade date basis.

A financial asset is derecognised when and only when (i)
the Group's contractual rights to future cash flows from the
financial asset expire or (ii) the Group transfers the financial
asset and either (a) the Group transfers substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, or (b) the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset but it does not
retain control of the financial asset.

If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises the financial asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement

Financial assets (except for trade receivables without a
significant financing component) are initially recognised at
their fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not carried
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets. Such trade receivables are
initially measured at their transaction price.

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as (i)
measured at amortised cost; (ii) debt investment measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“Mandatory
FVOCI"); (iii) equity investment measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“Designated FVOCI"); or (iv)
measured at FVPL.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the Group's business model for managing the
financial assets and the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics. Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent
to their initial recognition unless the Group changes its
business model for managing them, in which case all affected
financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the first
annual reporting period, following the change in the business
model.

78 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEETHE

@I A m
SREE®

SERETE
eRMEE(LBEEABMEKSTNE
5 EWGRIARR N N F R R S B
R MidEEEELIFRA A ER
Az BN EBEEMEERR
FEIENR KA - BREE 5 UK
BNFRERZERGE -

RUITHERE  SREED B
REHERATE  (DRAAREFA
HipzmE st ENEBIRE (18
wiEAREFARMEEYE])
(iR AR EF ARMEEWEET
ENRARE (THEERAREFA
HEtpzmmilas]) - KGRI ARE
FHABEAE o

TREERVI AR D EIUR
RAKREEESREEXRBEAR
EREENAHNARSTRER- -2
BMEEENPHERBRISETEN
DI ERARENEEESRE
ENEBER  BMAXTESR
BENNBEBRALEEFER
SHEEHEMHE -




2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

1) Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets
both of the following conditions and is not designated as
at FVPL:

(i) it is held within a business model whose objective is
to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

(ii) its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses arising from
impairment, derecognition or through the amortisation
process are recognised in profit or loss.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost include
trade and other receivables and bank balances and cash.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

2. FEEHBE®
@I A m
SREE®

Classification and measurement (Continued)

2) Financial assets at FVPL

These investments include financial assets that are not
measured at amortised cost or FVOCI, including financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon
initial recognition as at FVPL, and financial assets resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 applies and financial assets
that are otherwise required to be measured at FVPL.
They are carried at fair value, with any resultant gain and
loss recognised in profit or loss, which does not include
any dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.
Dividend or interest income is presented separately from
fair value gain or loss.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is:

(i) acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the
near term;

(ii) part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments
that are managed together and for which there is
evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking on initial recognition; or

(iii) a derivative that is not a financial guarantee contract
or not a designated and effective hedging instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

2) Financial assets at FVPL (Continued)

Financial assets are designated at initial recognition as at
FVPL only if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or
recognising the gains or losses on them on different bases.

The Group's financial assets measured at FVPL include
the unlisted investments - key management insurance

contracts.

Financial liabilities

Recognition and derecognition
Financial liabilities are recognised when and only when the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instruments.

A financial liability is derecognised when and only when the
liability is extinguished, that is, when the obligation specified in
the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value
plus, in the case of financial liabilities not carried at FVPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issue of
the financial liabilities.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, interest-bearing borrowings, payables for
construction in progress and lease liabilities. All financial
liabilities, are recognised initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, unless the effect of discounting would be
insignificant, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continuepy 2. FEEHBE @

Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income or interest expense over the
reporting period, respectively. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or
payments through the expected life of the financial asset or
liability, respectively, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

Impairment of financial assets and other items

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses ("ECL") on financial assets that are measured at
amortised cost to which the impairment requirements apply in
accordance with HKFRS 9. At each reporting date, the Group
measures a loss allowance for a financial asset at an amount
equal to the lifetime ECL if the credit risk on that financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition. If the credit
risk on a financial asset has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for
that financial asset at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Measurement of ECL

ECL is a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses (i.e. the
present value of all cash shortfalls) over the expected life of
the financial instrument.

For financial assets, a credit loss is the present value of the
difference between the contractual cash flows that are due to
an entity under the contract and the cash flows that the entity
expects to receive.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument while 12-month ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events on
a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after
the reporting date.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Measurement of ECL (Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on the following one or more
shared credit risk characteristics:

(i) past due information

(i) nature of instrument

(iii) nature of collateral

(iv) industry of debtors

(v) geographical location of debtors

(vi) external credit risk ratings

Loss allowance is remeasured at each reporting date to reflect
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk and loss since
initial recognition. The resulting changes in the loss allowance
are recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss
with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial instrument, except in the case of Mandatory FVOCI,

the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that the Group may not receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full if the financial
instrument that meets any of the following criteria.

(i) information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group); or

(ii) there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty.

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Group assumes that
the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date.

Low credit risk
A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if:

(i) it has a low risk of default;

(ii) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term; and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce
the ability of the debtor to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations.

All financial assets, except for trade receivables, are
determined to have low credit risk.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEEHBE®

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Simplified approach of ECL

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL. The Group recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECL at each reporting date that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Credit-impaired financial asset

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower.

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event.

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower's financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the

lender(s) would not otherwise consider.

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

(f) the purchase or origination of a financial asset at a deep
discount that reflects the incurred credit losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items
(Continued)

Write-off

The Group writes off a financial asset when the Group has
no reasonable expectations of recovering the contractual
cash flows on a financial asset in its entirety or a portion
thereof. The Group expects no significant recovery from the
amount written off. However, financial assets that are written
off could still be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's procedures for recovery of amounts due, taking into
account legal advice if appropriate. Any subsequent recovery is
recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost, which comprises all costs of purchase and, where
applicable, cost of conversion and other costs that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition, is calculated using the weighted average cost
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any
write-down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in the period of the
write-down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period
in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contnuedy 2. FEEHBE @)

Cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash equivalents represent short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible into known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews internal
and external sources of information to determine whether
there is any indication that its property, plant and equipment
and the Company's investments in subsidiaries may be
impaired or impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may be reduced. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated, based on the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the smallest group of assets that generates cash
flows independently (i.e. cash-generating unit).

If the recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised as an

expense in profit or loss immediately.

A reversal of impairment loss is limited to the carrying amount
of the asset or cash-generating unit that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
periods. Reversal of impairment loss is recognised as income in
profit or loss immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Foreign currency translation

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the "“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements is presented in the currency of Hong Kong Dollars
("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the Company,
and rounded to the nearest thousands unless otherwise
indicated.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at period-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

* assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented, are translated at the closing rate at the
end of each reporting period;

* income and expenses for each income statement and
statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate;

* all resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising from
a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Foreign currency translation (Continued)

= on the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group's entire interest in a foreign
operation and a disposal involving the loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised;

* on the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which does
not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is re-attributed to the non-controlling
interests in that foreign operation and are not reclassified
to profit or loss; and

= on all other partial disposals, the proportionate share of
the cumulative amount of exchange differences recognised
in the separate component of equity is reclassified to profit
or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services
The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group is

as follows:
(i) manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products.
(ii) manufacturing and sales of moulds and plastic products.

Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods or
services promised in a contract with a customer and identifies
as a performance obligation each promise to transfer to the
customer either:

(a) a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct; or

(b) a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same and that have the same pattern of transfer to the

customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is distinct if
both of the following criteria are met:

(a) the customer can benefit from the good or service either
on its own or together with other resources that are
readily available to the customer (i.e. the good or service
is capable of being distinct); and

(b) the Group's promise to transfer the good or service to the
customer is separately identifiable from other promises
in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer the good or
service is distinct within the context of the contract).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 E Z20194F12 A31H L F &

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINuED)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) the Group satisfies a
performance obligation by transferring a promised good or
service (i.e. an asset) to a customer. An asset is transferred
when (or as) the customer obtains control of that asset.

The Group transfers control of a good or service over time and,
therefore, satisfies a performance obligation and recognises
revenue over time, if one of the following criteria is met:

(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

(b) the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset (for
example, work in progress) that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is not satisfied over time, the Group
satisfies the performance obligation at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the promised asset. In determining
when the transfer of control occurs, the Group considers the
concept of control and such indicators as legal title, physical
possession, right to payment, significant risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset, and customer acceptance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS
15 (Continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

Sales of e-cigarettes products and sales of moulds and plastic
products are recognised at a point in time at which the
customer obtains the control of the promised asset, which
generally coincides with the time when the goods are delivered
to customers and the title is passed.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to a
customer before the customer pays consideration or before
payment is due, the contract as a contract asset, excluding any
amounts presented as a receivable. Conversely, if a customer
pays consideration, or the Group has a right to an amount of
consideration that is unconditional, before the Group transfers
a good or service to the customer, the contract is presented as
a contract liability when the payment is made or the payment
is due (whichever is earlier). A receivable is the Group's right
to consideration that is unconditional or only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

For a single contract or a single set of related contracts, either
a net contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
Contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts
are not presented on a net basis.

For the business of sales of moulds and plastic products, it
is common for the Group to receive from the customer the
whole or some of the contractual payments before the goods
are delivered (i.e. the timing of revenue recognition for such
transactions). The Group recognises a contract liability until
it is recognised as revenue. During that period, any significant
financing components, if applicable, will be included in the
contract liability and will be expensed as accrued unless the
interest expense is eligible for capitalisation.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

2. TESHEERw

W z5 B RR ()

ERAVMBREEREISHERE
EFEEHHWKE @)

W 55 FE SR BV B (4)
EFEERHEEANEARBRH
mHEREPISYHMAHEEER
ZHIER (—REFRXNTER
KB RER AR )RR -

BHREEREHNER

MAEEE BN TP MR ERM
REHA S B MR REER TR
BH - BIRZEHZ2INBEHNEE
(TNEE2YSRUBFIENEAE
#B) o HR WRAKEREFE
BEmRRB A TP NRE
SRR [ A R E IR UCEACE - Al
R P 1B 5k BE 4 R B R
(ABRBEERE)BZEHNZ2INRE
WAE - BUKIARANSE B E RN
WERR ER R - SR E(ERERRA
HBRER R HIXN -

BE-aNg—ABBREHONAKNE
EFEXRENAEFEZ) - BEH
BHZANEERANABIDF
BMEEZT -

IRANPRERMEEXHMS
AEBBREEEVRIMNZARAEP
WER 2 BBk BF 0 & A 5K (Bt 2R
R ERERE) - AEE R
RENEEEEHERR/KE - &
LLEARE - (R EABREK D (WE
RIKAGHEE  AKERE
AFERAXE BRENERXNTAE
AACfRMF -

AREEEZERERAF
2019FF %R

93



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEEHBE®

Leases

Applicable from 1 January 2019

The Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a
lease at inception of the contract. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

As lessee

The Group applies the recognition exemption to short-term
leases and low-value asset leases. Lease payments associated
with these leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group has elected not to separate non-lease components
from lease components, and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a
single lease component.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a
lease contract as a lease separately. The Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component.

Amounts payable by the Group that do not give rise to a
separate component are considered to be part of the total
consideration that is allocated to the separately identified
components of the contract.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability
at the commencement date of the lease.
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ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continuedy 2. FEEHBE @

Leases (Continued) HEw

Applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued) H2019F1 81 EEA @)

As lessee (Continued) EREBA ()

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which FREEETEKAETIGRE

comprises: 2 EfefE:

(a) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; (a) HEABENVIHRTESE

(b) any lease payments made at or before the commencement (b) R FIA A B sk 2 AT 1E A E ]
date, less any lease incentives received; MERF - BES WERE

HEESR
() any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and (c) REBESNTMYIBERZEK
PN

(d) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in () REBHRBRMEBRBBEE
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, restoring EMEEEMES M SR
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying HEEMEZHEGERRIEHE
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions TR E AR BE# F B A MU (H BT AK
of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce Ko BRIIEZERANTTEREERF
inventories. BEfmEL -

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of HEBBENENAEHNRBEEBARE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEEHBE®

Leases (Continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise the following payments for the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid at
the commencement date:

(a) fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

(b) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate;

(c) amounts expected to be payable under residual value
guarantees;

(d) exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(e) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, or where it is not readily determinable, the
incremental borrowing rate of the lessee.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability and
by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments
made.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is remeasured using a revised discount rate
when there are changes to the lease payments arising from a
change in the lease term or the reassessment of whether the
Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option.

The lease liability is remeasured by using the original discount
rate when there is a change in the residual value guarantee,
the in-substance fixed lease payments or the future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate (other
than floating interest rate). In case of a change in future lease
payments resulting from a change in floating interest rates, the
Group remeasures the lease liability using a revised discount
rate.

The Group recognises the amount of the remeasurement of
the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced to
zero and there is a further reduction in the measurement of the
lease liability, the Group recognises any remaining amount of
the remeasurement in profit or loss.

A lease modification is accounted for as a separate lease if:

(a) the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding
the right to use one or more underlying assets; and

(b) the consideration for the lease increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

As lessee (Continued)
When a lease modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease, at the effective date of the lease modification,

(a) the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract on the basis of relative stand-alone price as
described above.

(b) the Group determines the lease term of the modified
contract.

(c) the Group remeasures the lease liability by discounting the
revised lease payments using a revised discount rate over
the revised lease term.

(d) for lease modifications that decrease the scope of the
lease, the Group accounts for the remeasurement of the
lease liability by decreasing the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset to reflect the partial or full termination
of the lease and recognising any gain or loss relating to the
partial or full termination of the lease in profit or loss.

(e) for all other lease modifications, the Group accounts
for the remeasurement of the lease liability by making a
corresponding adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable from 1 January 2019 (Continued)

As lessor

The Group classifies each of its leases as either a finance lease
or an operating lease at the inception date of the lease. A lease
is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying
asset. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and sublease as two separate contracts. The
sublease is classified as an operating lease if the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group has applied the
recognition exemption. Otherwise, the sublease is classified
as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use
asset arising from the head lease.

The Group accounts for each lease component within a lease
contract as a lease separately from non-lease components
of the contract. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to each lease component on a relative stand-alone
price basis.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised when the
assets are let out on straight-line basis over the lease term.

As lessor - operating lease
The Group applies the derecognition and impairment
requirements in HKFRS 9 to the operating lease receivables.

A modification to an operating lease is accounted for as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering
any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original
lease as part of the lease payments for the new lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNnTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Applicable before 1 January 2019

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

As lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of
the Group at the lower of the fair value of the leased assets
and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the
consolidated statement of financial position as finance lease
obligation. Finance charges, which represent the difference
between the total leasing commitments and the fair value of
the assets acquired, are charged to profit or loss over the term
of the relevant lease so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each
accounting period.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
over the years necessary to match the grant on a systematic
basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. Where
the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a
deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the period in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme in Hong Kong are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group had no forfeited contribution
available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the
employees of the Group's entities established in the PRC are
required to participate in defined contribution retirement plans
organised by local governments. Contributions to these plans
are expensed in profit or loss as incurred and other than these
monthly contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement benefits to its employees.

Long service payments

The Group's net obligation in respect of long service payments
under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is the amounts
of future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods. The obligation
is calculated using the projected unit credit method and
discounted to its present value and after deducting the fair
value of any related assets, including those retirement scheme
benefits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 E Z20194F12 A31H L F &

2.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTiNUED)

Taxation

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of each reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill, or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is
not recognised.

The deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
undistributed dividend, except where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences is controlled by the Group and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the
Group.

(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is
related to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or of a holding company of the Group.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other

entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the
Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding company of the
entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to a holding company of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(c) dependants of that person or that person's spouse or

domestic partner.

In the definition of a related party, an associate includes
subsidiaries of the associate and a joint venture includes
subsidiaries of the joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
Group’s most senior executive management for the purpose of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individual material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and assumptions concerning the future and
judgements are made by the management in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements. They affect the
application of the Group's accounting policies, reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, and
disclosures made. They are assessed on an on-going basis
and are based on experience and relevant factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Where appropriate,
revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period
of revision and future periods, in case the revision also affects
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=2019F12 A31H L F[E

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

Apart from the judgment made on the going concern basis as
explained above, key sources of estimation uncertainty include:

(i) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The management determines the estimated useful lives
of the Group's property, plant and equipment based
on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of the relevant assets of similar nature and functions.
The estimated useful lives could be different as a result
of technical innovations which could affect the related
depreciation charges included in profit or loss.

(ii) Impairment of property, plant and equipment
The management determines whether the Group's
property, plant and equipment are impaired when an
indication of impairment exists. This requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the property, plant and
equipment, which is based on the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. Estimating the value in
use requires the management to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the property, plant and
equipment and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Any impairment will be charged to profit or loss.

(iii) Deferred tax assets

The recognition of the deferred tax assets mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than expected,
a material reversal of deferred tax assets may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
such a reversal takes place.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coNTINUED)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(iv) Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for
trade receivables by using various inputs and assumptions
including but not limited to risk of default. The estimation
involves high degree of uncertainty which is based on the
Group's historical information, existing market conditions
as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Where the expectation is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the
carrying amount of trade receivables.

(v) Allowance for inventories

The management reviews the condition of inventories at
the end of each reporting period and makes allowance for
inventories that are identified as obsolete, slow-moving
or no longer recoverable. The management carries out the
inventory review on a product-by-product basis and makes
allowances by reference to the latest market prices and
current market conditions.

(vi) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and
the PRC. Significant estimates are required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain where the final tax outcome of these matters
may be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded and such differences will affect the income tax
and deferred tax provision in the period in which such
determination is made.

(vii) Discount rates for calculating lease liabilities - as
lessee
The Group uses the lessee’s incremental borrowing rates
to discount future lease payments since interest rates
implicit in the leases are not readily determinable. In
determining the discounts rates for its leases, the Group
refers to a rate that is readily observable as the starting
point and then applies judgement and adjusts such
observable rate to determine the incremental borrowing
rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conTINUED)

2. TEEHBE®

Future changes in HKFRSs

At the date of authorising these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued the following new/revised
HKFRSs that are not yet effective for current year, which the
Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to HKASs 1and 8 Definition of Material’

Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
HKFRSs 7 and 9 Reform’

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of the
first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 The effective date to be determined

The management of the Company does not anticipate that the
application of these new/revised HKFRSs in future periods will
have any material impact on the financial performance and
financial position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being identified as the chief operating decision
makers ("CODM"), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of goods
delivered. No operating segments identified by the CODM have
been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
are as follows:

1) E-cigarettes products segment: manufacture and sales of
e-cigarettes products.

2) Integrated plastic solutions segment: manufacture and
sales of moulds and plastic products.

Segment revenue and results

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Segment revenue represents revenue derived from
manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes products and
manufacture and sale of moulds and plastic products.

Segment results represent the gross profit less selling and
distribution costs incurred by each segment without allocation
of other income, fair value gain (loss) on financial assets at
FVPL, administrative and other operating expenses, finance
costs, listing expenses and income tax expenses. This is
the information reported to the CODM of the Group for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

3. 7EER @

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DI R R LA )
The followings are analysis of the Group's revenue and results UTAREERRERELDIHN
by reportable and operating segments: ek MEEDT -
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—RiLiE2
ETEER BRAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THERT TER
Year ended 31 December 2019 220195128310 L 5E
Segment revenue DEllE 859,910 391,164 1,251,074
Gross profit EHM 216,175 97,184 313,359
Selling and distribution costs SHE R KA - (11,374) (11,374)
Segment results NEEE 216,175 85,810 301,985
Unallocated income and expenses FAEMRARFET
Other income HiplgA 6,143
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL DA BT ABZE
SREELLENE 847
Administrative and other operating THREAMCEHY
expenses (135,555)
Finance costs AR (9,069)
Profit before tax R AT A 164,351
Income tax expenses FEHHAX (37,155)
Profit for the year FRaf 127,196

'H O Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

3. 7EER @

Segment revenue and results (Continued) DI R R FELE )
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—fEe
BETEEM BRAR “@at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL FTEx FHL
Year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31AILLEE
Segment revenue k=g 485,689 474,258 959,947
Gross profit E7 127,799 110,025 237,824
Selling and distribution costs HERDEKA - (12,457) (12,457)
Segment results NEEE 127,799 97,568 225,367
Unallocated income and expenses KABUAREZ
Other income Hbl A 5,410
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL & DA BT ABZEE
SREERAERSS (272)
Administrative and other operating THRAMEEHY
expenses (107,794)
Finance costs B PRAR (12,027)
Listing expenses iiiliib3 (6,402)
Profit before tax BR 0 A 104,282
Income tax expenses FrigRFEY (28,527)
Profit for the year FRaF 75,755
AREEEZERERATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 3. 7HER =
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERERE
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions  Unallocated Total
—RrE
EFEER BRER AOE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TBT

At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31A
Assets &
Reportable segment assets RESHDEE 110,933 427,708 434,888 973,529
Liabilities aff
Reportable segment liabilities aELHaR 60,339 57,984 317,981 436,304
Other information HiE R
Capital expenditure BARRY 2,922 89,338 56,714 148,974
Depreciation nE 3,769 29,530 5,261 38,560
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  BERSEER

plant and equipment 1 150 - 151
Inventories written off FEMH - 1,525 - 1,525
Research and development HEEY

expenses 2,460 4,821 - 7,281
At 31 December 2018 R2018F12 A318
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets RESDEE 149,368 446,836 375,545 971,749
Liabilities fafE
Reportable segment liabilities BE Gt 82,515 94,754 343,239 520,508
Other information HinE R
Capital expenditure BARY 1537 131,042 5,653 138,232
Depreciation e 3,434 21,873 3,224 28,531
Amortisation g - - 1154 1154
Loss on disposal of property, HENE  HERSESE

plant and equipment 3 3,595 557 4,155
Loss allowance of trade receivables & 5 W ZIAR 18 & & - 4,662 - 4,662
Research and development HEmx

expenses 1,693 3,657 - 5,350

‘I'I 2 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinueD) 3. 2EFER

Segment assets and liabilities (continued) ’ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ(ﬁ

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and E}ﬁﬁt@ﬁa‘ﬁﬁfﬁ& D EfEE R

allocating resources between segments: mE :

«  segment assets include certain property, plant and - DHEESEETYE  BE
equipment, inventories and trade and bills receivables. LE#E - FERE S ERFIA
Other assets are not allocated to operating segments as FEWEE  EHEMEEHALRD
these assets are managed on a group basis; and e Ens  HZREEER

SEEEERE K&

+  segment liabilities include trade payables. Other liabilities - DEARE a?ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂ’iﬁmlﬁ °
are not allocated to operating segments as these liabilities HwBBEHRIBRELED
are managed on a group basis. 2 AZE fﬁﬁt%@%&#

ﬁ o

Geographical information wEER

The following table sets out information about the geographical TRENEBAEEDE BEI

location of the Group's property, plant and equipment and HEBAREN TR ERB ([T

prepaid land lease payments (“specified non-current assets”). FERHEEMIBUENER - 18

The geographical location of the specified non-current assets FIERDEENMEBMLETIANEE

is based on the physical location of the assets. BB E AKIE -

Specified non-current assets EEFRBEE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Hong Kong o 5,151 3,085
The PRC + 615,874 526,744
621,025 529,829

AREEEZERERATR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinuED) 3. 7 WER @
Geographical information (Continued) WEER
Specified non-current assets (Continued) EEFRBEE
Information about the Group's revenue from external BRARNEEBINTEPLWFZHERT)
customers is presented based on the location of customers. BEEPHUERY) -
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET

Revenue from external customers REIIMBEF B

The United States of America EFERE FEH 172,017 199,626
The PRC e 236,652 290,661
The United Kingdom HE 638,148 386,141
Hong Kong BB 30,311 75,914
Netherlands TR 164,466 1,570
Others Hib 9,480 6,035

1,251,074 959,947

'”4 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd. R ——
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

3. SEGMENT INFORMATION (conTinueD) 3. 2EFER
Information about major customers FHEFEEFNEH
Details of the entities individually accounting for 10% or more HZE2019F 2018 F12 A31H IEF
of aggregate revenue of the Group during the years ended 31 EERE AR E BB RZR10% A £
December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: NEBHOFBET
Integrated
E-cigarettes plastic
products solutions Total
—RrE
ETEER BRAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL THL
Year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F 128318 LEE
Customer A and its affiliated companies ~ BPAREHEATF 857,920 40,693 898,613
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE2018F12A3NBILFE
Customer A and its affiliated companies ~ BEAREEE AT 483,183 10,843 494,026
Customer B and its affiliated companies ~ BFBREHE AR N/A* TER* 147,250 147,250
Customer C and its affiliated companies ~ BFCREBENF) N/A* A 122,185 122,185
483,183 280,278 763,461
* Sales to these customers do not account for 10% or more of aggregate * HZE2018F 12 A31HIEFE @ %ZER
revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018. PRHEBT B AEEAWZEI0%
A E o

AREEZERERAQA 15
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

4. REVENUE 4, W=
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#Bx FET
Revenue from contracts with BBV R EXERIE 1557
customers within HKFRS 15 REBEFEE LMK
Sales of e-cigarettes products HEETEER 859,910 485,689
Sales of moulds and plastic products &R B LB REER 391,164 474,258
1,251,074 959,947
The revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15 is EARVBREEREISTHKERR

based on fixed price and recognised at a point in time.

BHM Y R EE EREILRN

R RAHER

5. OTHER INCOME 5. Hfblg A
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Bank interest income IRITF BHA 791 47
Exchange gain, net P& W s F R 1,218 834
Government grants BT e, 17 -
Management service income B RRTGHA - 90
Rental and utilities recharge income & NM/KEBEEBIA 1,605 2,156
Sales of scrap materials RERISEE 1,239 1,242
Sundry income HMIFUL A 1,273 1,041
6,143 5,410

'I'I 6 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

6. BRBL AR

SEEFARR (R A) TFIF IR

This is stated after charging (crediting):

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Finance costs g 3%
Interest on interest-bearing FTEERFE
borrowings 5,849 9,779
Interest on bank overdrafts RITELFNE - 20
Interest on payables for construction FE{T7EZ TIZ2FIBHF S
in progress 894 1,150
Finance charges on obligations under Ri&H EHAIER I H
finance leases - 1,078
Interest on lease liabilities HEAEMNE 2,326 -
9,069 12,027
Staff costs, including directors’ BIRK (BEEEM<)
emoluments
Employee benefits expenses BERAIFEZ 201,507 174,155
Contributions to defined contribution [Al7E &8 FGR ARET 21 =X
retirement schemes 13,770 13,946
215,277 188,101
AREEZERERAQA

17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED) 6. BRBLATER 40
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Other items Hiig g
Cost of inventories FERA 937,715 722,123
Amortisation of prepaid land TE{S T Mo H & SR IR 5
lease payments (charged to (GTATI T R EAb e s )
"administrative and other operating
expenses”) - 1154
Auditor's remuneration % 2R B 37 A 1,333 1,309
Depreciation (charged to “cost of E GrATEREERA]IR
goods sold” and “administrative [T R EMmEERY ]
and other operating expenses”, as (fwiE ) )
appropriate) 38,560 28,531
Fair value (gain) loss on financial BEARBIAEBENSRIEE
assets at FVPL ~RrE (W) B8 (847) 272
Inventories written off FEME 1,525 -
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BELE&EEE
and equipment 151 4,155

Lease payments (charged to “cost HENRGIAT B REERA]
of goods sold” and “administrative RITTHREME SRS

and other operating expenses”, as (%28 ))

appropriate) 20 1,422
Research and development expenses A ZEF X 7,281 5,350
Loss allowance of trade receivables 2 5 FEls X IE 18 B - 4,662

'I'I 8 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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DIRECTORS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

7. FREEREANNER

(a) Directors' remuneration
The aggregate amounts of remuneration received

7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

or receivable by the directors of the Company (the

“Directors”) are set out below.

@EEFHM

ARAER([BEF])EWE

W B A 2 B DI T o

Year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12831HLLEE
Contributions
to defined
Directors' Salaries and Discretionary  contribution
fees  allowances bonus plans Total
EEMR
EEsne HepEm BB TEIMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TR TR TR
Executive directors HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 2,901 24,759 18 27,678
Cheng Chak’ )3 - 575 - - 575
Chan Yin Yan R - 2,190 3,004 18 5212
Poon Po Han Lisa® AR - 1,060 1,785 1 2,856
Independent non- BUHNTEFE
executive directors
Chan Bing Kai PR 153 - - - 153
Lo KaKi' ERE 46 - - - 46
Hung Chun Leung HER 153 - - - 153
Ng Chi Wai? RER? 107 - - - 107
459 6,726 29,548 47 36,780
AREEZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF

DIRECTORS (coNTINUED)

(a) Directors' remuneration (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2018

Q@EEHM»
HZE2018F 12 A31HILFE

Contributions

7. FREEEANNER @

to defined
Directors’  Salaries and  Discretionary  contribution
fees allowances bonus plans Total
RGN
EEHe  HekEH b =gz SEIfR Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THx FHET THT THR FHT
Executive directors HITEE
Chan Tsan Lam BRI - 1,652 10,329 18 1,999
Cheng Chak &= - 1,503 2,260 - 3,763
Chan Yin Yan BRAEMR - 973 1,905 18 2,89
Independent non- BUHNTEE
executive directors
Chan Bing Kai st 110 - - - 110
Lo Ka Ki ERE 10 - - - 10
Hung Chun Leung MR 110 - - - 110
330 4,128 14,494 36 18,988
L Retired during the year ! RERERIE

2 Appointed during the year

Mr. Chan Tsan Lam is also the chief executive officer
of the Company and his emoluments disclosed above
included those for services rendered by him as the chief

executive officer.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of these
Directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as a compensation for loss of office. There
was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31

December 2019 and 2018.

120 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

7. FREEEANNER @

7. INFORMATION ABOUT THE BENEFITS OF
DIRECTORS (coNTINUED)

(b) Loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors
There were no other loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in
favour of the Directors of the Company or their controlled
companies entered into or subsisted during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

(c) Directors' material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
Saved as disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business
to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company, or an entity connected with the director,
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the year or at any time during the years ended
31 December 2019 and 2018.

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

An analysis of the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 is as follows:

OUEEHZRAZERK

BERRHMRS

B ZE2019F K£2018F12 A31H
IEFE  BMEUAQRFESRH
BEMIER AR AXEARL
ITFECHEHMER BEFRK
HMiZ5 o

@OEERRZ - RBEREN

EFHNEAER

BRERE M EIRMRM T 27 B R
HIN BMEAQRAFHNFA
RAREELHZEEH B
MNEBRERTEEXBEERS
BEAEGBEHASBERBE
AWEMRZ S - REEREHR
REEHEHZE2019F K% 20184F
12 A318 I FE 8 FE R REF

Z% o
f

8. AABZEHMAL

HZE2019F KX20184F12 A31H Ik
FE  AEmEFTMATHDHTI

Number of individuals

AE
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
Director = 3 3
Non-director IFE=E 2 2
5 5
AREEZERERAQA

_-4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

8. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (conTiNUED)

Details of the remuneration of the above highest paid
non-director individuals are as follows:

8. ABBREHMA L w

FRBEHFHEEEAL 2 FIF
BT

2019 2018

2019% 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&x FHET

Salaries and allowances e KoRBh 1,516 2,149

Discretionary bonus EI5IEAL 3,518 1,116
Contributions to defined TE R FRET B 5R

contribution plans 140 18

5174 3,283

The number of these non-director individuals whose

HBE T MBS REZ S

emoluments fell within the following emoluments band is as EEATAEOT :
follows:

2019 2018
20194 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T = -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7L %£1,500,000/8 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L £2,000,000/5 7T - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T £ 2,500,000/ 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 023,000,000 7T 1 -
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to any of these highest
paid non-director individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group, or as a compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which any of these highest
paid non-director individuals waived or has agreed to waive
any emoluments for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018.
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TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

9. TAXATION 9. HiIE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M F#Bx T
Current tax BPEABL1E
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEENEH 5,091 163
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B 1 FTIS AR
Current year RFE 37,667 23,356
Over provision in prior year BEFEBERE (556) -
42,202 23,519
Deferred tax EEBLE
Changes in temporary differences ERFIEZFEEH) (6,662) 10,932
Utilisation (Benefit) of tax losses ~ DIERHIEEE 2
recognised A (k) 1,615 (5,924)
23 (5,047) 5,008
Total income tax expenses for FRFSHAS 28
the year 37,155 28,527

The Group's entities established in the Cayman Islands and the

British Virgin Islands (the “BVI") are exempted from income

RASHEREBERES ([HB
BREERES DRI AEEEED

tax, respectively.

BREAIPRER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

9. TAXATION (conTinuED) 9. BiIE )

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
assessable profits of a Hong Kong incorporated subsidiary
of the Group (as elected by the management of the Group)
are subject to the two-tiered profits tax rates regime that
the first HK$2 million of assessable profits will be taxed at
8.25% (the “graduated tax rate”), and assessable profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5% (the “standard tax rate").
The Hong Kong Profits Tax of other Hong Kong incorporated
subsidiaries of the Group is calculated at the standard tax rate
of 16.5% of their respective estimated assessable profits for
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to
Enterprise Income Tax of the PRC at a statutory rate of 25%
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

HZE2019F K 2018F12 A31H IEF
B AEBREBIMALHOM B
AR (AASEEEREEREL)ER
b st B B IR RS B ARSI 4 FL - B
B2 B BB TERDUR MK 128.25%
([ REBE])  m2BEET
LA | B9 FE RR B v M) 5 12 16.5% BB
([TBEREK]) - REBHEAMNES
ALK BR R BB FIER
TR EVE 20194 2201812 A 31
HIEFEHE B b aH R % FI8Y
16.5% RIIRER R H o

HZE2019F %2018 12 A31H ILE
B REBRPEKIHNERAEIR
25%AVEEMRBMFP R EMG
i o

Reconciliation of income tax expenses FrE5HiBE X ¥ BR

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FiET

Profit before tax B 5t A& A 164,351 104,282
Income tax at applicable tax rate REAREGTENMEH 37,869 26,956
Effect on graduated tax rate REMENTE (165) (70)
Non-deductible expenses AT HORL =2 200 1,554
Tax exempt revenue R (201 an
Others Hi 8 98
Over provision in prior year BEFEHEBEEE (556) -
Income tax expenses for the year FRNABEHRAX 37,155 28,527

The applicable tax rate is the weighted average of tax rates
prevailing in the territories in which the Group’'s entities
operate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

financial position.

10.DIVIDENDS 10. IR 2.
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Final dividend in respect of 2018 F REIf B B E B
2018 of HK3.0 cents per 3.0l (20174 : E#T)
ordinary share (2017: HK$nil) 18,600 -
Interim dividend in respect 2019F R HEAR B F AR E i Ak
of 2019 of HK1.5 cents per 1.5l (2018 - F#7T)
ordinary share (2018: HK$nil) 9,300 -
27,900 -
Not recognised final dividend RERHOKRERE -NEESR
- Final dividend declared after ERBHREIRREARE
the balance sheet date of HK1.5 BIREBR1.5EN (20184F -
cents per ordinary share (2018: 3.08M) (B17E@D)
HK3.0 cents) (Note (i)) 9,300 18,600
Note (i): At a meeting held on 27 March 2020, the Directors recommended Bt @) #£2020F3 427 BE{TH @
the payment of a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (20718: HK3.0 b EEEERNEE2019%F
cents) per ordinary share totally approximately HK$9,300,000 NANBIEEFENRPERES
(2018: HK$18,600,000) for the year ended 31 December 2019. B & @Ak 1.5l (20184 < 3.0
The proposed dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 JEMI) - #25H499,300,0008 7T
will be accounted for as an appropriation of reserves in the year (20184 :18,600,000;87T) ° fi
ending 31 December 2020 if it is approved at the forthcoming REEBRFES RE BRI E
annual general meeting. The proposed final dividend has not been BE2019F 12 A3B LFERE
recognised as dividend payables in the consolidated statement of 2 EBREE2020F12A318

LEFERD B RN IR -
BERPKRSLARNES BN
MRFERB BB

AREEERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE n. 8RER
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the FRERZFTIZATEEE

following data:

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Profit: SBSF
Profit for the purpose of calculating AT E SRR E AR R F 8% F
basic earnings per share 127,196 75,755
T F A
'000 '000
Number of shares: Bi7EE -
Weighted average number of ordinary ~ #LEtE &RE KRR
shares for the purpose of calculating LA ke B
basic earnings per share 620,000 591,973
Diluted earnings per share is the same as basic earnings per RN EE2019F 2018412 A 31
share as there were no potential ordinary shares outstanding BIEFEWEBEITEINNBEL R
during years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. i - WERBERMNEGRERR

FAER]
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i
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

12. SUBSIDIARIES 12.M B AT

Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period R EHROMBRARFBLOT ¢
are as follows:

Attributable equity interest

Place of Date of Particulars of
incorporation/ incorporation/  paidup capital/ eld by the Company
establishment  establishment  registered capital FRARENELRR Principal activities/
Name of subsidiary e/ ST/ BrEx/ 2019 2018 place of operation
if. PN A% RIRE  BREREE  200F  00F  TEER/SEsY
Directly held by the Company
FRAERKE
Tian Chang Investments Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 United States 100% 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
("Tian Chang BVI") Dollar ("US§")1
Tian Chang Investments Limited RERTHEE  207E4A20R ET 100% 00% RERK/ES
('Tian Chang BVI1) (ESH)
Sun Leader Holdings Limited The BVI 20 April 2017 US§1 100% 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
("Sun Leader BVI")
Sun Leader Holdings Limited ABRAEE  2017F4R20A ET 100%  100% RARR/EE
(I'Sun Leader BVI])
Indirectly held by the Company
FRABRRE
Tian Chang Holdings Limited Hong Kong 16 May 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding/Hong Kong
ARERERAE EE 200655816E 100005 100%  100% REZR/EE
Tian Chang Industrial Limited Hong Kong 13 June 2006 HK$10,000 100% 100%  Sales of e-cigarettes products and
("Tian Chang HK") providing integrated plastic solutions/
Hong Kong
AREFARAR ((RRER]) B%  2006F6A13R 10000 100%  100% HEETEERREE-EL
TERAE/BR
AEEE(FERAF The PRCO® 26 September ~ HK$100,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes
Tian Chang Industrial (Shenzhen) Limited* 2006 products and providing integrated
plastics solutions/The PRC
RREZ (RY)ERAR REO®  2006F9A26H8 100,000000ET  100%  100% REREEETTEERR

RE-BLIERRIR/TE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

12. SUBSIDIARIES (conTinueD)

12. i B 2 7] ()

Attributable equity interest

Place of Date of Particulars of
incorporation/  incorporation/ paid up capital/ he}l\d_by the Company
establishment  establishment  registered capital FRARENELRR Principal activities/

Name of subsidiary AL/ e/ BrER/ 2019 2018 place of operation
i PEES: R RURE  BMEREE  00F  08E  TEEE/SenY
ENTAREZERAA The PRC® 22 March 2011 Renminbi (“RMB") 100% 100%  Manufacturing and sales of e-cigarettes
Huizhou Tian Chang Industrial 50,000,000 products and providing integrated

Company Limited* plastic solutions/The PRC
ENTAREZERAT mEGD  0MEIFNE ARE(ARE]) 100%  100% HERHESTEEGR

50,000,0007C RE-BLTEERE /P

Sun Leader Mould Industrial Limited Hong Kong 27 September -~ HK$1,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic solutions/

("Sun Leader HK") 2000 Hong Kong
FRERAREERAR (2 (F8))) B 00089A278  1000000ET  100%  100% RE-BLIEERE/EE
FrER(RIDBRAA The PRCO0 17June 2011 HK$56,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic solutions/
Sun Leader Mould Industrial (Shenzhen) The PRC

Limited*
FHZEE(HINERLT BEOO 0ME6ATE 560000008 100% 00% RE-BLIEBRAE/TE
FHEREEX (BN ERAT The PRCO 27June 2011 HK$80,000,000 100% 100%  Providing integrated plastic solutions/
Sun Leader Mould Industrial (Huizhou) Limited* The PRC
HERAER (BN ARAT REOO  20MEF6A7A  80,000000ET  100%  100% RE-ELIEERE/RE
Tian Hong New Materials Technology Limited HongKong 10 October 2019 HK$10,000 100% - Sales of polyester fibre (‘PET")

products/Hong Kong

REFHERBARAR & 09FI0F10F 100005 100% - BETRGE(PT)ER/EE
REFRRE (BM)ERAE The PRCO™ 4 December 2019 HK$5,000000  100% - Sales of PET products/The PRC
Tian Hao New Materials Technology Limited*
REFRRE (BM)ERAE BEOO  019%1284R 50000008 100% - HEPTER/%
* English translation for identification purpose only.
(i) Being a wholly foreign owned enterprise. () B—RIEBELE -

(ii) Being a wholly owned enterprise in the PRC.

(i) Limited liability company registered in the PRC.
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14.PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

Prepaid land lease payments represent costs paid for leasehold
lands in the PRC that are classified as operating leases with
initial lease terms of 50 years and the remaining lease terms
ranged from 43 years to 44 years as at 31 December 2018. The
costs are amortised over the leasehold periods.

ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

14. 58 L HEFIE

T ERIERERFESER
KERENYRAHASOFHEE
T AERA - BR2018F12 A
318 FHBEBAN T 43FE44F 2
e %xir*fﬁJZZKﬁéTHHH W%ﬁﬁ °

2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET

Net carrying amount REFE
At the beginning of the reporting period Rk HA) 47,468
Amortisation iy (1154)
Exchange realignments ERRE L 1,318)
At the end of the reporting period Rk HR 44,996
Current portion BIERES > (1,085)
Non-current portion FEENEAER 5 43,911

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, the prepaid
lease payments are presented under property, plant and
equipment - right-of-use assets (Note 2).

MR2019F1 A1 BEMAB BN BRE
ERIF165R1% - ENHEERERY
¥ BEREHE-FREEEERAR
T25)(KiE2) »

AREEEZERERAE
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Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

15.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

BREAAREFTAEENEH

/N
BE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
At fair value RARE
Unlisted investments - key FELEMIEE-—TEERE
management insurance contracts R A 4 28,419 26,841

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts is
determined by reference to the respective surrender cash value
of each insurance contract at the end of the reporting period,
which is primarily based on the performance of the underlying
investment portfolio together with the guaranteed minimum
returns, ranging from 2% to 3.9% per annum (2018: ranging
from 2% to 4.8% per annum).

The movement of the key management insurance contracts is
analysed as follows:

TZEEEERBENNAREZ
EREHARSRE S HHERERR
REeEBEET  NEBERERRE
HEMRRARRBREBEE -
HEFNTF2%E3.9% 20 (2018
F FENF2%F4.8%,24)

TEERERRBREANNESH TN
T

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&xT FHET
At the beginning of the reporting AR HAT)

period 26,841 10,506
Additions il 731 16,607

Fair value changes recognised RIERERN AR B
in profit or loss 847 (272)
At the end of the reporting period REREER 28,419 26,841

The key management insurance contracts are pledged
as collateral for the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
amounting to approximately, in aggregate, HK$31,070,000
(2018: HK$24,396,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

16.INVENTORIES 16.7 &
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBx FET
Raw materials R 27,865 38,019
Work-in-progress RS 22,236 12,358
Finished goods P & 33,781 35,551
83,882 85,928
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17.8 5 R E#EUNFRIE
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M FHBxT FHET
Trade receivables g S EWFIE
From third parties U E=7 17(a) 125,345 230,007
Loss allowance B e 17(b) (4,568) (4,662)
17(c) 120,777 225,345
Bills receivables EWERE 17(d) 2,655 9,023
Other receivables HibEWFRIE
Deposits e 391 156
Prepayment for suppliers TR FE P IR - 2,248
Prepayment for insurance R TEN /8 3,150 3,197
Prepayment for utilities IKEEFEN A 5,354 5,831
Prepaid expenses, other ENAY - iRk
deposits and other debtors H i e Uk BR X 21,038 15,761
29,933 27,193
153,365 261,561

Note: Information about the Group's exposure to credit risks for trade
and other receivables is included in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Kat - ARAKEE S R EMERFIREER
Bl O BRI B AR A BT RAMIRE29 ©

AREEERERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED) 17.EZ R EEWFE @)

TEREE =S HE Z EUK

17G) Trade receivables from third parties

The Group grants credit period up to 90 days to its
customers upon the issuance of invoices.

17(b) Loss allowance

At 31 December 2019, the loss allowance of approximately
HK$4,568,000 (2018: HK$4,662,000) was mainly and
specifically resulted from a customer against whom the
Group was in a legal action to recover the trade debt due
to the Group.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
ECL for trade receivables prescribed by HKFRS 9, which
permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. Trade receivables are assessed
individually for impairment losses based on historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast
direction at the end of the reporting period, including time
value of money where appropriate.

Except for the loss allowance made, the Group rebutted
the presumption of default under ECL model for trade
receivables over 90 days past due based on good
repayment records for those customers and continuous
business with the Group. The assessment is regularly
reviewed by the management of the Group to ensure the
relevant information about specific debtors is updated.
There were no changes in the estimation techniques
or significant assumptions on the assessment of loss
allowance during the year ended 31 December 2079.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED) 17.E 5 R EMEWFRIE @)

17(0) 5 1B B4 )
B SRR FERN 2 Eia
EEEBRMT o

17(b) Loss allowance (Continued)
The movement in the loss allowance for trade receivables
during the year is summarised below.

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At the beginning of the R R4 HA)

reporting period 4,662 -

Increase in allowance B IE N - 4,662

Exchange realignments M H PR (94) -

At the end of the reporting period R ¥REEIR 4,568 4,662
17() The ageing of trade receivables, net of loss NMOERRERHEAINESE
allowance, by invoice date is as follows: WEhiE (KB EERE) W

BRERWT -

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Within 30 days 30A 64,603 175,600

31to 60 days 31£60H 47,555 40,657

61to 90 days 61290H 4,578 6,586

91 to 180 days 91£180H 2,600 1,419

Over 180 days 180 B A 1,441 1,083

120,777 225,345

AREEEZERERATR
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17(c) The ageing of trade receivables, net of loss

allowance, by invoice date is as follows:
(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
the trade receivables, net of loss allowance, by due date is

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTINUED)

17.E 5 R H A EUWRIE @)

NORBEBHEITNESE
W (HBREERE) W
BREMT
RBEHER - REHBEE S H
B SRR FIE (R EEREE)

as follows: HERER DTN -
2019 2018
2019 % 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&x FET
Not yet due i) < 21| B 45,253 107,106

Past due: BRI -

Within 30 days 30HA 66,989 102,056
31to 60 days 312 60H 5,855 13,596
61to 90 days 61290 H 962 1,094
91 to 180 days 912180 H 288 559
Over 180 days 180BH A £ 1,430 934
75,524 118,239
120,777 225,345

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade
receivables. The Group's trade receivables which are
past due at the end of the reporting period but which
the Group has not impaired as there has not been any
significant changes in credit quality of customers and
the management believes that the amounts are fully
recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no
history of default.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES contnuepy — 17. 2 5 & H 4th FE UL FRE (o)

17(c) The ageing of trade receivables, net of loss NORBEHEIHNESE

allowance, by invoice date is as follows: FE (HREERE) DN
(Continued) REE%ZID-F ()
At 31 December 2019, amount of approximately M2019F12A31H » 4
HK$4,234,000 (2018: HK$83,000) included in the 4,234,00087C (20184 :
trade receivables were in connection with factoring 83,0008 L) E 5 EWFIE
arrangements. SREMERIELHEH -

17(d) Bills receivables ) EWEE
The bills receivables are interest-free, guaranteed by banks EWEE RS  BPEE K
in the PRC and/or Hong Kong and have maturities of less EFNBTERENSBEAR
than six months. ZIHf o

18.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18.E 5 R H Mt BT RKIE
2019 2018
20194 20184F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 F#&x FHET

Trade payables ESENRE

To third parties ENE=7H 18(a) 118,323 177,268

Other payables HibESFRIE

Contract liabilities EHBE 18(b) 10,767 7,203

Deferred government grants  JEFE B fF 48k 565 -

Salaries and bonus payable e E & RAEAL 54,279 43,016

Other accruals and other HfhpEst &R R EMEMRER

creditors 27,662 25,367
93,273 75,586

211,596 252,854

AREEZERERAQA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

18. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTINUED) 18. B 5 KK H M FE A4 FRIR (o)
18(2) Trade payables 18)E 5 B RIE
At the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of R EER LB EHEE S
the trade payables based on invoice date is as follows: HE S EMNRIERNERE DT
T
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Within 30 days 30A A 37,761 69,902
31to 60 days 31£60H 47,219 87,333
61to 90 days 61£290H 24,924 10,706
Over 90 days 90H M k 8,419 9,327
118,323 177,268
The credit period on trade payables is up to 90 days. B EARIENEESETEBE
90H °
18(b) Contract liabilities BOESLERS
The movements (excluding those arising from increases FRNEAEEMEREREDE
and decreases both occurred within the same year) of BHEMEEANBEES (T
contract liabilities with customers within HKFRS 15 during FERERNE IR D FREA
the year are as follows: SENINT
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
At the beginning of the MR & B )
reporting period 7,203 792
Recognised as revenue R AR (7,203) (792)
Receipt in advance B IE 10,767 7,203
At the end of the reporting period R EREHI® 10,767 7,203
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there REZ2019F & 2018412 A31
was an increase in the overall contract activities and the BIEFE EBAORPHEEK
negotiation of larger prepayments, thereby increasing the REFAN RIBH BB E M
amount arising from the receipt of advances. IR B TRMGRIBE0 S B IE 0 -
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THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

19.PAYABLES FOR CONSTRUCTION IN 19.FBEERZIRENRIE

PROGRESS

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

TExT FET

Current portion RENER D 35,642 11,927

Non-current portion JERENE 12,280 11,827

47,922 23,754

Payables for construction in progress represent the amounts
payable to the constructors in respect of the construction of
the production plants located in the PRC which the payment
terms are unsecured, interest-free and repayable from one
to four years since its inception. The amounts represent the
present value of the invoiced amounts at effective interest rate
of 4.75% at 31 December 2019 (2018: ranged from 4.75% to
6.15%).

FERTER TR BN P B ER
B E T A BRIEIE - {4
BRIy EEE - 28 BEERER
R—ZWFREE - ZEFEER
2019F 12 A3TB BB FIL4.75%
(20184 : N F4.75%%6.15% )&t
BEMERERE -

AREEZERERAQA
2019F F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

20. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS 20. 5T BB
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#BxT FET

Secured bank borrowings: HERPIRITER

Current portion MENER D 103,177 125,627
Non-current portion JEmENE o - 22,969
103,177 148,596

The secured bank borrowings are wholly repayable within
seven years since its inception. At 31 December 2019, the
secured bank borrowings carried weighted average effective
interest rate of approximately 4.18% (2018: 4.40%) per
annum.

At 31 December 2019, the bank borrowings are secured by:

(i) certain buildings and certain right-of-use assets in respect
of the prepaid land lease payments with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$196,310,000 (20178:
HK$280,895,000);

(ii) key management insurance contracts with fair value of
approximately HK$28,419,000 (2018: HK$26,841,000), as
set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements;

(iii) trade receivables in connection with factoring arrangement
of approximately HK$4,234,000 (2018: HK$83,000),
as set out in Note 17(c) to the consolidated financial
statements; and/or

(iv) certain machinery and equipment with aggregate net
carrying amount of approximately HK$4,915,000 (2018:
HK$1,749,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

21. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

At 31 December 2018, the Group leased certain machinery and

equipment under finance leases. The lease term is ranging from
36 to 48 months. At 31 December 2018, the weighted average
effective interest rate of the obligations under finance leases of

the Group was 3.39%.

21.

BMEREAE

2018412 A31H » REBUAFE
MEAME THEWMZEE - AN
F36E 481 H 2 - H2018F12
A318 » AEEREHEFAERN N
ETFHERFER3.39% °

Present value
Minimum of minimum
lease payments lease payments

®EHE
RIEBAEMK NFHBEE
2018 2018
20184 20184F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Amounts payable: FER IR -
Within one year —F R 24,472 22,415
In the second to fifth years inclusive F _-_ZEFAHF (BIEEEMF) 45,133 42,879
69,605 65,294
Future finance charges RRBMEFE (4,311
Present value of lease obligations MEAENRE 65,294
Less: Amounts due for settlement o ER T @A NBENKIE
within 12 months (22,415)
Amounts due for settlement after R+ @ A% EERNIE
12 months 42,879

Upon the adoption of HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019, the
balances recognised under obligations under finance leases are

reclassified as lease liabilities (Note 2).

2019F F 3R -

M2019F1 A1 BERME BB %8R
HREAE165E - RMEHERER
THRRANEHEN>EAHESE
(KtzE2) o
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5 A >
e MR RME
Year ended 31 December 2019 & ZE2019F 12 A31H L FE
22. LEASES LIABILITIES 2. HEAE
Prepaid Machinery
land lease and Leased
payments equipment properties Total
Bt
HEME HEREE HEME Foh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Right-of-use assets (Note 13) EREEE (i713)
Reconciliation of carrying amount - REEZHE-HZ
year ended 31 December 2019 2019512 A3ALFE
At the beginning of the reporting period  AREEIH] — N RAES
- upon adoption of HKFRS 16 BHHRELE 65 % 44,996 95,01 - 140,007
Additions NE - 15,535 3,905 19,440
Depreciation e (1,041) (9,876) (774) (11,691)
Transfer b - (8,583) - (8,583)
Exchange differences EHER (1,115) (2,342) (29) (3,486)
At the end of the reporting period REEHR 42,840 89,745 3,102 135,687
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31A
Cost AR 51,128 104,394 3,87 159,393
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (8,288) (14,649) (769) (23,706)
42,840 89,745 3,102 135,687
The Group leases various lands, machinery and equipment and AEBHMEHEZEERAL TH
properties for its daily operations with initial lease terms range R B SRR B AR - Ma
from 2 to 50 years. The Group has recognised the following BN F2250F 2 - AEEER
amounts for the year: FARNERATSE -
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Lease payments: HERR
Short-term leases of properties REMERE 20 -
Operating lease payments KEHE NN = 1,422
Expenses recognised in profit or loss RIERTHER 2 FX 920 1,422
Total cash outflow for leases HERS R A5 29,563 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

22, LEASES LIABILITIES (conTiNUED) 22,

At 31 December 2019, the weighted average discount rate
applied was 3.73% per annum. Commitments and present
value of lease liabilities:

HEEE W

MW2019F12 A31H - EABIINETF
BB R BEF3.73% - HERE
EPENRIRE

Present value

Lease of lease

payments payments

HENR HESRNWEE

2019 2019

20194 20194

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#Bx FET

Amounts payable: FEATROA -

Within one year —F LR 24,863 22,737
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_-_ZFHF (BIEEHEMF) 41,519 39,754
66,382 62,491

Less: future finance charges B RRBE R (3,891) -
Total lease liabilities HEABRE 62,491 62,491

23. DEFERRED TAXATION 23, IRFERL IR

2019 2018

20194 20184F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#&x FHET

Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 1,238 2,818
Deferred tax liabilities R IBEE (8,515) (15,567)
Net deferred tax position RIET IR RBAR R (7,277) (12,749)
AREEZERERAQA
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The movements in the Group's net position of deferred tax are

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTiNUED)

23, LR IE )

7N 55 B A A TR REGIA S B = B 4N

as follows: o
Timing
differences on
income and
expenses
(including
depreciation)
Tax losses recognised Total
EHABAR
B NEREZE
BEBE (BERE) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHL THL THEL
At 1January 2018 201851 A1R 2,242 (10,566) (8,324)
Income tax credit (expenses) FrigfEs (BX) 5,924 (10,932) (5,008)
Exchange difference EREH (233) 816 583
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) EXHBEEE (BE) 7,933 (20,682) (12,749)
Offsetting HiH (5115) 5,115 -
At 31 December 2018 F2018%12 A31R 2,818 (15,567) (12,749)
At 1January 2019 720191 A18 2,818 (15,567) (12,749)
Income tax (expenses) credit FriEf (A #ER (1,615) 6,662 5,047
Exchange difference EREH (161) 586 425
Deferred tax assets (liabilities) BIEREEE (BE) 1,042 (8,319) (7,277)
Offsetting KA 196 (196) -
At 31 December 2019 H2019%12H31H 1,238 (8,515) (7,277)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

23. DEFERRED TAXATION (conTinue) 23, IRFEBLIE ()
The tax losses reflected in above deferred tax assets arising at FHURERRIE B E TR B B
the end of each reporting period which can be offset against EHRELEN RSB QB &R K
future taxable profits of the respective subsidiaries will expire FE AR TR K S A0 L TE B 18 15 R A
as follows: T HHEAZIE :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Year of expiry B F 15
2021 20214 2,337 5,331
2022 20224 3,149 3,231
2023 20234 18,680 19,689
2024 20244 464 -
24,630 28,251
No expiry maHA - 5,280
24,630 33,531
The estimated withholding tax effects on the distribution of SR BRI GEAEARZE
accumulated profits were approximately HK$24,289,000 #)524,289,000/8 7T (2018 4F
(2018: HK$13,337,000) which would become payable when 13,337,00087C) *» REDIREH
they are distributed. In the opinion of the Directors, these WMo EBEERE  BAIZZZEAEAMN
accumulated profits, at the present time, are required for BB ETRNEERERT 1
financing the continuing operations of these entities and o] B R A EDIR Btk - 4%
no distribution would be made in the foreseeable future. VEHHZBINERE TR B4

Accordingly, no provisions for additional deferred taxation
have been made.

AREEZERERAQA 145

2019F F 3R -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

24. SHARE CAPITAL 24, B 7
2019 2018
2019 2018%F
No. of No.of
Note shares shares
[l RAEE RHER
'000 HK$'000 ‘000 HK$'000
TR TR Fix THEL
Authorised: ZE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1each  ZREEO.ETHEBR
At the beginning of the AR H )
reporting period 2,000,000 200,000 3,900 390
Increase on 8 February 2018 722018452 A8 AL 24(a) - - 1,996,100 199,610
At the end of the reporting period  F 345 5 2,000,000 200,000 2,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR -
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1each ~ &REEO.1E LA ZEK
At the beginning of the RIREE
reporting period 620,000 62,000 3 ="
Issue of shares pursuant to BEERMCEITEITRR
the Capitalisation Issue 24(b) - - 464,997 46,500
Issue of shares pursuant to BREZREERTRN
the Global Offering 24(c) - - 155,000 15,500
At the end of the reporting period  F#R% ik 620,000 62,000 620,000 62,000
¥ less than HK$1,000 A R1,000/ 7T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24. SHARE CAPITAL (conTINUED)

(a)

(b)

()

Pursuant to the resolution of the Company's shareholders passed on 8
February 2018, inter-alia, the authorised share capital of the Company
was increased from HK$390,000 to HK$200,000,000 by the
creation of an additional 1,996,100,000 shares of HK$0.1 each and the
Capitalisation Issue (as defined below) was conditionally approved.

On 8 March 2018, the Company issued a total of 464,997,000 shares
of HK$0.1 each to the shareholders appeared on the shareholders’
register on 13 February 2018, credited as fully paid at par by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$46,499,700 standing to be credit
of the share premium account of the Company (“the Capitalisation
Issue”) and the shares issued carry the same rights as all shares in

issue.

On 8 March 2018, the Company issued a total of 155,000,000 new
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each at HK$0.71 per share by way of
global offering (the “Global Offering”) and the shares issued carry
the same rights as all shares in issue. The expenses attributable to
issue of shares pursuant to the Global Offering of approximately
HK$13,847,000 were recognised in the share premium account of the
Company. On the same date, the Company's shares were listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

25. RESERVES

25(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds
from issuance of the Company’s shares over its par value.
Under the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Company's
Articles of Association, it is distributable to the Company's
shareholders provided that the Company is able to pay its
debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

25(b) Capital reserve

The capital reserve represents the waiver of the amount
due from the Group granted by the Ultimate Controlling
Party in prior years and the aggregate amount of the
nominal value of the issued/registered capital of the
entities now comprising the Group less consideration paid
to acquire the relevant interests (if any).

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

24, IR AN ()

(a)

()

(c)

BEARRQFREA2018E2 AsHAB
RIRZR (EFRRIE)  SBAIZREN
1,996,100,000 % & A2 0.1/ T AR 15 1%
R RHEEIAH390,0008 LB E
200,000,000/ 7T + BEARLET (F
£ BT XO)EBIEGERA -

H2018F3A8H  AR&EMMN20184F
2A13B R BELAMEOBEETE K
464,997,000 R FARONVETHIRG « 1%
HEEARIBHERR - FEABRA
RIRVRR 2 5 (B AR R 46,499,7008 L 2 i
BREEMETENME ([ER(LEIT]) » et
THRGEMEEBRITROBERSE
F o

H2018F3 A8H + RRRFEBEIRE
& ([2REE DUEROTVBTETS
155,000,000 i &% 0.1 T 69 37 48
A% - FTETTRIMR D ERFT B B BTN
BRSERN - BRESRBEHITRNG
F #13,847,0007 7T Jh A A A R IR (5
BERER - FAA  AQRRORER
FTER £ -

25. &S
25() IR 19 3R B

Beinim ERETARRBRMDE
SZFGREFREBEEE
ZEE - RERASEHEXMK
ARARAHMERMAR  ZFE
BA DK TARRBIR - AR
RARBIABRAINBEE
BB B HIEN 2 (&7 -

25(0) & 2~ fi 8

BEXRRBERNBEIFEARK
ERR7 % B R WK 5= B SRR
B REAREKASEZE
BB BT/ AMRANER
FRERI B E R R ey B (10
) e

AREEEZERERAF
2019FF %R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

25. RESERVES (conTinuED)

25(c) Statutory reserve

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for
enterprises incorporated/established in the PRC, the
Group's subsidiaries in the PRC are required to maintain
certain statutory reserves. The statutory reserve can be
used to make up for losses, expand the existing operation
and convert to additional capital.

25(d) Translation reserve

The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of foreign
operations for consolidation.

25(e) Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve represents the cumulative net
changes in the fair value of the unlisted investments
in key management insurance contracts classified as
available-for-sale financial assets held in the period prior
to 1January 2018.

Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018,
the accumulated revaluation reserve of approximately
HK$801,000 were reclassified to accumulated profits.
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REE R EAMME QR AR
FraTIAERE - ZERER
AREHER  BRARALE
KB RBRINRA -

BOREFEE
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ES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A31H L F[E

26. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 26 REFABRE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Profit before tax B 35 A2t ) 164,351 104,282
Amortisation of prepaid land TEA + 1o FH & FRIE 5
lease payments - 1154
Expected credit loss allowance of B S EWGRIRTEHE BB B R E
trade receivables - 4,662
Depreciation THE 38,560 28,531
Inventories written off FEME 1,525 -
Interest income A EBA 791 47)
Fair value (gain) loss on financial BEARBEAEENSREE
assets at FVPL ~RE (W) B8 (847) 272
Finance costs B SR AN 9,069 12,027
Loss on disposal of property, HEME  BELXRESE
plant and equipment 151 4,155
Exchange differences E R =% 9,373 8,624
Changes in working capital: LiEEEE
Inventories & (1,639) (32,175)
Trade and other receivables B 5 KkEMERFIA 94,972 (149,367)
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTAE (31,612) 142,515
Cash generated from operations KEMBRE 283,112 124,633
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

27.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 21. B AR5
In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere MREGEBIEmAR M T TEEN
in the consolidated financial statements, during the years X5,/ BEEIN - HE20199F 2018
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, further information of the FNRANBILFE  BE@EH I
related party transactions is set out below. SRE—FEREINNT -
(a) Transactions between the group entities have been (a) EEERENZTZERN A
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed. During HIHBWARHEE - HE2019F
the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Group K2018F12A31BIEFE - K
had the following significant transactions with related SEHEBEBHFEUNTERRS °
parties.
2019 2018
2019F 20184
Related party relationship Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
B S EE XHHE FHET FHET
Companies controlled by Purchase of property, plant - 1,023
the Ultimate Controlling and equipment (i)
Party BEWME - WERZEGO
BRRKIER T EH R AT Rental payments expenses (ii) 585 540

i AN PN AD)

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group purchased motor () BHZE2018F12A31BIFE  AEH
vehicles from CDN Holdings Limited (“CDN Holdings"). Such purchase AL BR AT ([ 212 | ) iE
has been recognised in the additions of the Group's property, plant BAE  ZEZHEBETHONRANEENY
and equipment. % R RSEORERER -

(ii) During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, rental payments (i) B ZE2019F K2018F12 A31HILE
expenses represented lease payments on premises charged by CDN B HeNMEZE TN SEpREmT
Holdings to the Group. REBHMERENK -
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27. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (conTinUED)

(b) Remuneration for key management personnel (including

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

21. A A R B )

b)) AEBEIEERAB (BREE

directors) of the Group: E)NEHM -
2019 2018
2019% 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Salaries and allowances e MiEah 10,497 8,184
Discretionary bonus BEIEAT 30,334 16,127

Contributions to defined contribution EfEMFURRET2IHE K

retirement schemes 148 110
40,979 24,421

Further details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions
The followings set out the major non-cash transactions
during the year:

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the
Group incurred additional payables of approximately
HK$31,526,000 (2018: HK$34,132,000) to constructors
for the addition of property, plant and equipment.

2019F F 3R -

EFFHNE - FHFRBHNE
BUMBHRRMET -

8. R ERECEMER

Q@IBFREXRS
TXEINAFENERIFRE

25

HZE2019F12A3HIEFE -
AEBMBAEVE BE KK
BEEBINENEIABRE
#931,526,0007%8 7L (2018 4F -
34,132,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH 2. EBESHREcEHEMEH
FLOWS (conTinuED) ()

(a) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) Q@QFEHFRERZ )

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into lease arrangements in respect of certain
machinery and equipment with a total capital value at the
inception of the leases of approximately HK$15,535,000
(2018: HK$56,820,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group
accrued other liabilities of approximately HK$4,934,000
for purchase of certain machinery and equipment. Such
other liabilities were replaced by inception of leases during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the
payables for construction in progress of approximately
HK$894,000 (2018: HK$1,150,000), which were not
settled and were credited to the payables for construction
in progress.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
entered into lease arrangement in respect of leased
properties with a total capital value at the inception of
leases of approximately HK$3,905,000 (2018: HK$nil).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group
incurred imputed interest expenses in respect of the leased
assets of approximately HK$2,326,000 (2018: HK$nil).
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EZE2019F12 8318 ILFE -
REBMBE THR R RBERT L
HELTH HEHVEELRE
{E#715,535,000/8 7T (20184 -
56,820,000/ ) °

HZE2018F12A3NBIEFE -
AEERBES THMLEE
MmEEEMEEL4,934,000/%8
JC o BLE2019F 12 A31H IEF
B ZEHMAaE2HEER
SEK o

HZE2019F12 A31HIEFE -
AEERENERIRERIEE
AR FEETF B FZ4894,000
EIL (20184 1,150,000 %
JT)  ZEMEWELS  WE
FFAENTERTIIZEFKIE o

EHZE2019F12 8318 ILFE -
AEBEBREENETLHER
B HEHNNBRELAEBEY
3,905,000/ 7T (20184 : £
JT) e

HZE2019F12A31HIEFE -
AEERHEEEEELENE
T FIE X 42,326,000 T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH
FLOWS (coNnTINUED)

(b)Reconciliation of liabilities arising from
financing activities
The movements in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities are as follows:

e M EmRME
Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

BEERRTRE2HMER

()
OBREFHELEEENY
iR

AKEBBEDAELREN
HEIT -

Non-cash changes

FRERD

At Imputed ~ Adjustment Foreign At
1January  Netcash interest ontransition  exchange 31December
2019 flow  Addition Transfer ~ expenses toHKFRS16  movement 2019
BEEER
HHEE
20195 R Eit EHZ0H 20195
1818 RERE e & FEEX fEE  NESE  2ANA
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
Tin TER TiEn TEn TEn TEn TEn TEn
Year ended BE2019%
31December 2019  RANALEE
Payables for ERERTREFE
construction in
progress 23,754 (7,549) 31,526 894 (703) 47922
Interest-bearing AR
borrowings 148,596 (43,759) - - - (1,660) 103,177
Lease liabilities G - (9413) 19440 4,934 2326 65294 G0) 6249
172,350 (80,781) 50,966 4,934 3,220 65,294 (2393) 213,590
AREEZRERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

28. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON CASH

FLOWS (coNnTINUED)

(b)Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities (continued)

BEERRETREZHMESR

(&)

OBRETBFELERBENY

BR ()

Non-cash changes

FRe28
At Imputed ~ Adjustment Foreign At
1 January Net cash interest ontransition  exchange 31 December
2018 flow Addition Transfer ~ expenses  to HKFRS 16 movement 2018
BEEER
RS
120185 5 Bt EHE6H 10185
A1 REFE hE B  HERX HEE O ER®  nA3A
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
THr TR TR TER TR TEn  TEr  TER
Year ended HZ208%
31 December 208 12AINBLEE
Payables for ERfERIRIE
construction in
progress 28176 (39,286) 34132 1150 (418) 23,754
Interest-bearing HEER
borrowings 192,513 (41762) (2155) 148,59
Obligations under HERERE
finance leases 20,668 (12,194) 56,820 65,294
241357 (93,242) 90,952 1150 (2573) 237644
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise of
financial assets at FVPL, interest-bearing borrowings, payables
for construction in progress, lease liabilities/obligations under
finance leases and bank balances and cash. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise and maintain finance
for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial instruments such as trade and other receivables and
trade and other payables, which arise directly from its business
activities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are market risk (including price risk, interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group does not have any written risk management policies
and guidelines. However, the management generally adopts
conservative strategies on its risk management and limits the
Group's exposure to these risks to a minimum level as follows:

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising from its unlisted
investments in key management insurance contracts which
are classified as financial assets at FVPL. The fair value of the
unlisted investments will fluctuate, subject to the returns which
are at the discretion of the issuer of the investments. Such
contracts have minimum guaranteed returns during the holding
period. Management is of the opinion that the price risk arising
from the contracts is not significant.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

29. B EREEEERBER

AEBNTIESRMTABRREEAAR

fﬁ;ﬁr]\f SR EREE  FTEE
CENERZIRENRE - -BHEER

ﬁ/ﬂéﬁ SAERIRITRGB LI
@°Ex$$|¢ﬂll LNEEEAWME
RS AEEEERTER - K
%l%ﬁﬁyﬁ,\ﬁﬂirﬁlﬁ e
BEREEESTHNES RHEME
WHIBFIE 5 & H A BT FR0A o

rEBESMTAEMEZEZRAR TS
R (BEERRE - ﬂT’J—LA&
9“%“ %)~ S ERBRERE R
B °$’§Ii'[ Eﬂiﬁﬂ IR
HE RIS - Al - BIEEBRTES
HEREER HM%?%EH% C WA
EEYZERB A ORE&KEKX
o FEB

ERE R

rEEEBRREBETEEREABR
b e #ELTIRE (Bl RIZEAR
fﬁﬁ)\%@ﬁﬁﬂ’]ﬁpﬂéﬁ?)ﬂ’ﬂﬂﬂﬂ
B o FELMIREMAAEBHRTE
W(AREBTAZERAE)MEKE
B ZEFEHNRPBEHERERKE

REBEWZ - EEHERAE  AHONE
BRI TEKX -
AREEERERAT

2019FF %R

155



Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's interest-bearing
borrowings and lease liabilities/obligations under
finance leases of approximately HK$143,319,000 (2018:
HK$176,235,000) with floating interest rate. The Group
currently does not have a policy to hedge against the interest
rate risk as the management does not expect any significant
interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest rate has been
1% higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group's pre-tax results would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$1,433,000 (2018: HK$1,762,000).

The sensitivity analysis above has been determined assuming
that the change in interest rate had occurred throughout the
year and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk
for the closing balance of the lease liabilities/obligations under
finance leases, interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdrafts
in existence at the end of the reporting period. The stated
changes represent management’s assessment of a reasonably
possible change in interest rates over the year.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk because the
exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect the
exposure during the reporting period.
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9.V HEBREEERERRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTiNnUED)

Foreign currency risk
The Group's transactions are mainly denominated in HK$, US$
and RMB.

Certain financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currency
of the respective group entities and therefore exposed to
foreign currency risk. The carrying amounts of those financial
assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:

Financial assets

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

B EBEERE

(43
‘\%EL/

ZRBE

N LB
REBORHEBUBT - ETR
ARHEE -

AEENETEREELRSREBE
NEEBERINEGE NI EE
FHE - AtEEI/INERRE - 252
MEENMBENREEITWT

Financial liabilities

EREE =K
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 2019 F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET T FHET
HK$ BT 3,997 1,432 1,717 2,390
us$ ETT 165,216 183,386 103,261 174,610
RMB AR 2,274 136 - -

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group's pre-tax results if exchange rates of HK$, US$ and RMB
had changed against the functional currencies of the respective

TEBIIERERRBT  ETR
NSRS L B TaE
B5% BT 210 2 B RSB

group entities by 5% and all other variables were held constant ER T AREERT A EE LS
at the end of the reporting period. ) o

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
HK$ BITT 14 452
us$ ET 3,098 439
RMB AR 14 7
AREBERERAT

2019FF %R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

20.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. BXERETEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTiNuED)
Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that
the changes in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied to the Group's
exposure to currency risk for financial instruments in existence
at that date, and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant.

The stated changes represent management’'s assessment of
reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates over the
year until the end of the next reporting period.

In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk because
the exposure at the end of the reporting period does not reflect
the exposure during the reporting period.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets recognised on
the consolidated financial statement, which is net of loss
allowances, represents the Group's exposure to credit risk
without taking into account the value of any collateral held or
other credit enhancements.

Trade receivables from third parties

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. The Group limits its exposure to credit risk from
trade receivables by establishing a maximum payment period
of three months.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. Credit quality
of a customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating
and individual credit limit assessment which is mainly based on
the Group’s own trading records.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTiNnUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables from third parties (Continued)

The Group's customer base consists of a wide range of clients
and the trade receivables are categorised by common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with the
contractual terms. The Group applies a simplified approach
in calculating ECL for trade receivables and contract costs
and recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at the
end of the reporting period, based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment. At 31 December 2019
and 2018, except for a customer that the Group had taken legal
action to recover the trade debt due to the Group, the expected
loss rate of other trade debts is negligible.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had a concentration of
credit risk as approximately 55.5% (2018: 41.1%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's largest trade
debtor, and approximately 86.4% (2018: 85.5%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group's five largest trade
debtors.

Other receivables

The Group considers that other receivables have low credit risk
based on the debtors’ strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and low risk of default,
therefore, the credit risk associated with other receivables
is minimal. No loss allowance is recognised based on the
measurement on 12-month ECL.

e ISR AR M

Year ended 31 December 2019 B E2019F12 A31H L F/E

9. BERBREEEERBE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of payable
for construction in progress, interest-bearing borrowings
and lease liabilities/obligations under finance leases. The
Group has no specific policy for managing its liquidity. The
undiscounted contractual maturity profile of the Group's

9.V HEBREEERERRE

(1)

MBI R

AEEWBRTRBSBENER
TEFE  FEERMREEAE
BMEMEARGRRESEERE
a2 BT - AR E I
BRERERBE - RMEHK
AEBERBORBANRO TR

financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period, based on

BERRER G 2 B #

contractual undiscounted payments, is summarised below: o
Total
Total  contractual Less than
carrying undiscounted 1year or
amount cashflow  ondemand 1-2 years 2-5 years
ANAERE  1EUTH
REELE BEMELE RIREER 1228 285%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT A
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A318
Trade and other payables ZEREMENTE 211,596 211,59 211,596 - -
Lease liabilities HERE 62,491 66,382 24,863 37,849 3,670
Interest-bearing borrowings (/) SHEERG) 103177 103177 103,177 - -
Payables for construction JERERIRNE
in progress 47,922 48,936 36,376 12,560 -
425,186 430,091 376,012 50,409 3,670
At 31 December 2018 #2018%12 4318
Trade and other payables B REMENTIE 252,854 252,854 252,854 - -
Obligations under finance leases ~ RAAMRE AL 65,294 69,605 24,472 18,680 26,453
Interest-bearing borrowings () STEERG 148,596 149,864 126,893 22,971 -
Payables for construction B ERIRHE
in progress 23,754 25,368 12, 6,655 6,602
490,498 497,691 416,330 48,306 33,055
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

2.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 2. FXEABEEEERKE

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (conTiNnuED) €

Liquidity risk (Continued) T B LB )

(i) The amounts repayable under bank loan agreements that include () HRITERWZ (BE—EH TRITHE
a clause that gives the banks unconditional rights to call the loans BF U [B] B 30 A9 4 {10 1 F1) A AR 30D 1B
at any time are classified under the category of “Less than 1 year or TEEENSHIASABMNMEUNTH
on demand”. However, the management does not expect that the BRERKESZ R - A EEERE
banks would exercise such rights to demand repayment and thus BRI A& 1T EZ SR BRI
these borrowings, which include the related interest, would be repaid oAl - ZEER(BIERBEFE)
according to the below schedule as set out in the loan agreements. BIREERIBZES Tl RERE

B o

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Less than 1year or on demand 1FLAT SR EkEE 84,019 107,412
1-2 years 1224 16,120 33,170
2-5 years PELES 4,728 10,481
Over 5 years SELAE 1,553 2,047
106,420 153,110

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 30. A RA{EFTE

The following presents the assets and liabilities measured AT Thi2 &8 B 7 sl &5 #E B 513 5%

at fair value or required to disclose their fair value in the [AREFEIMAEZARE=E

consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis across TAEF A AR B ERBIREE
the three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS HENFEVBBRREBEELA LB

13 “Fair Value Measurement” with the fair value measurement BERABE MAREFETER

categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level input that et S HEATE 7 HEKAR

is significant to the entire measurement. The levels of inputs MABBIERESE - G ASUIEE
are defined as follows: BAERT -

«  Level 1 (highest level): quoted prices (unadjusted) in active - F-BR(RaAR) KEHE
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Group TEERJESHNIEREED
can access at the measurement date; BEAETREMS ZRE (REHA

)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)

* Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly;

*«  Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

30. A A EFTE )

a)

F_RBR - BRE-RRNAERE
ZHENN BERABNE
BERERATER 2 BARE

F=BA(RELR)  BEX
BEZELIBEEARE -

URAREFENEERSE
&

2019 2018
2019F 20184
Level 3 Level 3
FZER EZER
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Assets measured at fair value ~— KR REFEHEE
Financial assets at FVPL BRARBEFABRNESRIEE
- Unlisted investments - —JELEMERE
key management insurance —TEEBABRRBEY
contracts (Note 15) (M17£15) 28,419 26,841

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value
measurements, and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair
value measurements.

HZE2019F X2018F12 A31H
HFE E—EHREEF_ER
AhEFEzHITEEE - B
FEZEBRANEFELEEM
A S o

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET
Total unrealised gain (loss) FFABRA R E IR YR
included in profit or loss (E518) e sa 847 (272)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (conTINUED)

a) Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)

The fair value of the key management insurance contracts
is determined by reference to the surrender cash value,
which is primarily based on the performance of the
underlying investment portfolio, reported by the bank on a
regular basis.

Assets and liabilities with fair value disclosure,
but not measured at fair value

All other financial assets and liabilities including trade and
other receivables, trade and other payables, bank balances,
interest-bearing borrowings, payables for construction in
progress and lease liabilities/obligations under finance
leases are carried at amounts not materially different from
their fair values as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

mE B RRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&
2N ==, .
30. 2 REFTEw

a)

b)

LAREBENENEERE
&
FEEEBEAEBERBAELONAAR
BENZ2EZRRB[EEET @ %
BeBEDHEEEREITEHR
EREEIREEERR -

WREARBERUAAE
FTENEERAEE

FIEHMemEERBE (BE
EoREMEKRZE BH5 K
Hib TR - IRITAS &
BER  ENEREIBRRIER
HEERE BMEBERE)HU
ER20194F 2018412 A31HA
AETESAEZENSETE -

31. COMMITMENTS 31.74E
Capital expenditure commitments BRI AE
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Contracted but not provided net REREIREIMMERTTNA
of deposits paid for construction AEBSE (kiRe)
in progress 141,328 -
AREEEZERBRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R

Year ended 31 December 2019 # £2019F12 A31H IEFE

32. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

33

The objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to provide returns for equity owners. The Group manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments, including payment
of dividend to equity owners, call for additional capital from
equity owners or sale of assets to reduce debts. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Since the 2020 Chinese New Year Holidays, the Group's
operations located in Huizhou of Guangdong Province, the PRC
(the “Huizhou Operations”) were suspended as a result of the
outbreak of COVID-19. The Huizhou Operations have resumed
operation on 13 February 2020, however due to the suspension
or limited service of transportation facilities in certain areas in
the PRC, certain workers were unable to return to the Huizhou
Operations as planned, which resulted in a temporary drop
in the production capacity of the Huizhou Operations. It is
expected by the management that the Huizhou Operations will
experience delay in resuming their original production schedule
and there will be late delivery of products in the coming few
months.

At the date of authorisation for issue of these consolidated
financial statements, the Group does not expect those events
have any significant adverse impacts to the financial position
and the application of going concern basis for the preparation
of the Group's consolidated financial statements as set out in
Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

164 Tian Chang Group Holdings Ltd.

Annual Report 2019

3. EAREE

33

REENEAEEBZNREARE
ERELERAERERE ARM
EI3RMEEN - AEEERHEEARSE
BWELAE  BERESEEA
SABRE - BEskigEmER ABEINE
% R HEEEURKEE - HE
2019 K 201812 A31H IEFE -
BiZ - RS2 EIEL &g -

EHRER

E b K@ - NEBANFREH
EREEMNTHTH(EMNI®K])
B2020F R FRAREEE
B o BMIMHEM2020F2 A13H
RIEEE - A BN B LR
RBIMBEEFIRBEIR - 5T
ANEEZFERE BN I - &8
BEMIMMOERE R TE - 518
BIEET B M IR T B IRERRAE
EFtEWHARREEANERIN
W& -

RERBTIRZEHEM B HRERA
B AEEERZEEHTEHY
TSRO B e & B 755 S R B R 2 P 8K
RABECLEAERUEANEEHEA
MBRRELEAEBRTNZE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

34, A B BY BF AR R R

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY
2019 2018
2019 20184
Note HK$ HK$
P 5T BT BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KEHE AT 16 16
Current assets REEE
Due from the subsidiaries [ ENGIE S 34(a) 114,147,632 117,745,962
Other receivables Hoh e WA 213,630 145,300
Bank balances RIT4E8 1,051,486 2,426,063
115,412,748 120,317,325
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables H b A FRIE 242,736 365,672
Net current assets RBEEFE 115,170,012 119,951,653
NET ASSETS EERE 115,170,028 119,951,669
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital Az 34(b) 62,000,000 62,000,000
Reserves Bt 34(b) 53,170,028 57,951,669
TOTAL EQUITY FESBEE 115,170,028 119,951,669

The statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 April

2020 and signed on its behalf by

CHAN Tsan Lam
R J2 K

Director

£

CHAN Yin Yan

B ROR RN 2020F 4 420 A EE
EeWERBETIETHATES
REFEL

AREEERERAF

2019F F 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Year ended 31 December 2019 & E2019F12 A318 IEFE

34, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

32 Due from the subsidiaries
The amounts due are non-trade in nature, unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. No provision has
been made for non-repayment of the amounts due during
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

Details of the amounts due from the subsidiaries are as
follows:

34. XA BB B AR R 3R )

34(2) FE UL B BB & R R IE
EWRIEBIEESMNE - &
B 2B HBRERES -
HZE2019F Kk2018F12 A31H
IEFE  AEETREKREE
B FEMRIERHRHEE -

& W B /B8 X B SRIA Y RE 1B AN

I

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Tian Chang HK XE(BB) 86,047,632 87,745,962
Tian Chang BVI Tian Chang BVI 16,000,000 -
Sun Leader HK FE(FE) 5,000,000 5,000,000
Sun Leader BVI Sun Leader BVI 7,100,000 25,000,000
114,147,632 117,745,962
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2019 E £2019%F12 A31H L F /&

34, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 34, 2K T Y B & 4R SR 3= ()

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
() Movement of share capital and reserves UO) R AR A G2 B
Share Share  Accumulated
capital premium profits Total
R& R %E 2HEF i
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT
(Note 25(a))
(Bf3E25(a))
At 1 January 2018 R018F1A18 300 - - 300
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year ~ FREH k2 ANEERE 23,748,709 23,748,709
Transactions with owners REEAETHR S
Contribution and distributions FERDE
Issue of shares pursuant to the Global Offering BERREERORA (Wi20)

(Note 24(c)) 15,500,000 94,550,000 110,050,000
Issue of shares pursuant to the Capitalisation Issue ~ REEAMETEARG (HF24(b)

(Note 24(b)) 46,499,700 (46,499,700)

Transaction costs attributable to issue of shares BORAEERSNA (H224()

(Note 24(c)) (13,847,340) (13,847340)
Total transactions with owners HEENETNR S8 61999700 34,202,960 96,202,660
At 31 December 2018 R2018E12A31H 62,000,000 34,202,960 23,748,709 119,951,669
At 1 January 2019 201951518 62,000,000 34,202,960 23,748,709 119,951,669
Profit and total comprehensive income for theyear — FAEFR2 AMALE - - 23,118,359 23,118,359
Transactions with owners EEEAETHRS
Contribution and distributions BBRAR
Dividends (Mote 10) & (Wito) . - (21,900,000  (27,900,000)
At 31 December 2019 H2019612/318 62,000,000 34,202,960 18,967,068 115,170,028

Certain administrative and other operating expenses BAANTIHB AT AEEFIT
BEEAMGCERS - BTEM

RN EYE

were borne by the subsidiaries of the Company without
recharge.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

T F PRt al

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report, the annual
report for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 and the

prospectus in relation to the Listing, is set out below.

s e ANFER - EE20184F & 2017
FRANBEFENFREEH LTH
BRERNCEZGEMERER A%
ERBEREVRFENEEAREE

KA BB o

RESULTS E
For the year ended 31 December
BE1R2A3NBLEE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHETT FHET F#&xT
Revenue & 401178 555,561 572,864 959,947 1,251,074
Cost of goods sold 725 o 88 B PR AR (304,058) (427,386) (438,825) (722,123) (937,715)
Gross Profit EX 97,120 128,175 134,039 237,824 313,359
Other income E A 3,658 8,296 4,868 5,410 6,143
Fair value (loss) gain on WARBEFAETZH
financial assets at FVPL ERMEEAAE
(E18) W= - - - (272) 847
Selling and distribution costs  $4% K7 4R A (8,522) (11,570) (11,604)  (12,457) (11,374)
Administrative and other T H A48 &

operating expenses X (55,473) (66,584) (66,909) (107,794) (135,555)
Finance costs B TSR ZR (13,087)  (13,320)  (13,525)  (12,027)  (9,069)
Listing expenses X - - (15844)  (6,402) =
Profit before tax RR%E AT 5 F 23,696 44,997 31,025 104,282 164,351
Income tax expenses et (5,935)  (11,140) (10,947) (28,527) (37,155)
Profit for the year FREF 17,761 33,857 20,078 75,755 127,196
Other comprehensive HEi2m (E5E)

(loss) income e (11,542) (28,937) 16,948 (4,831) (13,312)
Total comprehensive income 2 HKZHAEE 6,219 4,920 37,026 70,924 113,884
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FETT FET FET
Total assets BEE 655,240 632,478 654,789 971,749 973,529
Total liabilities BEE 413,072 385390 370,675 520,508 436,304
Total equity b Fa et 242168 247,088 284,114 451241 537,225
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